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Chairman speech

M/S: Shareholders of the Mashaer Holding Company K.s.C. (Public)
Greetings,

Praise be to Allah, the Lord of the Worlds, and may peace and blessings be upon the most honored of the Prophets; the Prophet
Muhammed (Peace be upon him).

On behalf of myself and my colleagues, members of the Board of Directors, I'm pleased to present to you the 20th Annual
Report, including the most important economic developments at the local and regional levels; in addition to the annual
performance results, the consolidated financial statements and the Independent Auditor’s Report for the fiscal year ended on
the 31st of December 2019.

The economic situation in general did not achieve positive results during 2019; in light of the regional political and security
crises up until the economic crises facing the Arab Gulf states in particular, or regionally in the Arab Peninsula and Eastern
Africa in general; which was manifested by fluctuations in the foreign currencies’ exchange rates against the Kuwaiti Dinar
and the decline in the oil prices in the world markets to levels that had a negative impact on all the economic activities; thus
causing a deficit in the budgets of the region states that depend on the oil income to the historical levels. In the midst of these
economic fluctuations, and due to Mashaer Holding Company’s adoption of a risk-based investment strategy based on real
estate investments and income-generating operating assets and their periodic returns that are more stable than others within

and outside of Kuwait, the Company succeeded in achieving operating profits; as the Earnings Per Share (EPS) reached 9.26 Fils.

Esteemed General Assembly’s Members:

As we used to in previous years, to review with you the Company’s financial report, and that is after the Company
succeeded in the past years to meet all of its obligations, as the policy adopted by the Company has led to an increase in the total equity
attributed to the Parent Company from KWD 21,086,913/- to KWD 23,333,361/- in addition to an increase in the Company’s
total assets from KWD 30,112,438/- to KWD 33,377,446/- and a decline in the total liabilities from KWD 8,677,726/-
to KWD 7,833,672/- .

We have promised you in last year’s meeting that the Company will make its comeback in achieving profitability; and that
is in our belief that following the transparency policy adopted by the Company with the shareholders, regulatory authorities
and others will lead to the realization of positive results, which have already been achieved; as the Company achieved profits
for the fiscal year ended on the 31st of December 2019 amounting to KWD 1,658,586/ .

The Company’s Board of Directors recommended the distribution of cash dividends for the fiscal year ended on the 31st of
December 2019 at 5% of the share’s nominal value (5 fils per share), after excluding the treasury shares; and that is for the
shareholders registered in the Company’s Shareholders list on the entitlement date set after 15 business days from the General
Assembly’ convening date; provided that the cash distribution will occur 10 business days after the entitlement date; in addition
to authorizing the Board to amend the shares entitlement schedule, if it is not possible to announce the confirmation of the

entitlement schedule 8 business days prior to the entitlement date.

Corporate Governance:

We enhanced the Corporate Governance System at Mashaer Holding Company; as we adopted the Corporate Governance
Manual; in addition to the applications of all the standards and mechanisms; in order to strengthen the corporate governance
rules. We were also keen on promoting the internal control concept, the transparency and disclosure concept, the stakeholders’
rights and other corporate governance applications. To this end, we established a standing committee to constantly view the
new amendments to the CMA Law, and work on implementing the law’s requirements and CMA's instructions in this regard.
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In addition, the Company established the Investor Relations Unit and Compliance Department; in order to follow up and
ensure that the work of the Company’s Corporate Governance is in line with the CMA’s instructions and regulations.

Esteemed Shareholders:

During its journey in the previous years, Mashaer Holding Company has promised you to achieve outstanding results that
reflect its strong performance, solid foundation and continuously achieve the best financial and profitability results for the
shareholders, and that it has fulfilled its promises and assures you that it will continue on the same approach it has established
for itself since its inception for studying the local and international markets; in order to seize the investment opportunities that
achieve stable returns, which enhance the values of its assets.

In conclusion, I would like to extend my thanks and appreciation to the members of the Fatwa and Shariah Supervisory Board,
the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management, and all the Company’s employees for their active
participation and tangible efforts. On behalf of myself, the Board Members, and all the Company’s employees, I extend my
sincere thanks and gratitude to our esteemed shareholders for their continued trust and support.
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Fahad Abdullah Al-Saleh

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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In the Bame ol allah, the Mot Mecgiful, the Most Compassionabe

Annusl Report of Shari's Suparviapry Board
haor Holding Com

for the fiscal year ended 31 December 20498

To the Sharehalders of Mashaer Holding Company:

According to the deciston of the gpenesal assambly of Mashaer Holding
Company (the Company} appointing ws as Shara Supervisory Boand, we
present o oyea the following report;

We have monitorsd and reviewed the centracks that are related bo
transactiens and implementations offerad by the company during the fiscal year
enced 31 Dacember 2019 In erder to express an cpinion as io whether the
company has complied with the Rules and Prindples of Islamic Sharia; as well as
specific Fatwas, ruling and qusdalings issusd by u.

It |5 the management's responsibllity bo ensure that the company
operated in gccordance with the Rules and Principles of [slamic Shari’a, However,
our redponshility is Hmited to form en Indspendent oginion based on our
monitoring amd reviewing of the company operations and Lo report 1o vou,

We have parformed our monitoring and  reviewing  which  Incuded
examination and documentation of procaduras folfowed by the company, we have
also planned and impemented our manibaring and réviewing in order to abtain all
information and interpretations we deernsd pecebiary for proading us with
sufficiant evidence to give reasonable assurances that the company has not
violated [slamic Sharl'a Rulas and Principlas.

In aur opinion the contracts and operations made. by the comgany during
the year ending on 31 Decarmber 2019 which wa have reviewed, were conducted
In campliance wikh the Islamic Shari'a Rules and P‘I‘:II"II:“‘.'I‘I'ES-.

We ask Allah the all mighty to make reason and rghtness realized to us
May peace, merc and blassing of Allah be upon you.

SHEIKH / SHEIKH / SHEIEH f
ABDUL SATTAR AL-KATTAN HAMAD ALMAZYAD [r, SHAD AL-KANDARI

/1 =
I Y NI
\/ 5

—
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Projects Mashaer Holding Company

Hajar Tower Real Estate Company

Mashaer Holding Company contributes through one of its subsidiaries in the Hajar Tower Real Estate Company; and the Hajar
Tower Real Estate Company comes within a leading system of economically important companies in the region through the
alliance to invest in a distinct real estate project in Mecca next to Masjid Al-Haram; as part of the King Abdulaziz Endowment
Development Project “Abraj Al Bait”, which is “Hajar Tower”.

Elaf Al-Mashaer Hotel

Mashaer Holding Company has the right to use the Elaf Al-Mashaer Hotel in Makkah; as the Hotel has a view
overlooking Masjid Al- Haram, along with providing excellent hotel services.

Masaa Real Estate Company K.s.C (Closed)

The Masaa Real Estate Company was founded in July 2007 with a capital of KD 28 million, and it specializes in the
real estate investment and development in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and the Arab Republic of Egypt. The following is a
presentation of the most prominent projects owned or developed by the Masaa Real Estate Company:

The Investment Projects in the State of Kuwait are represented in:
The Masaa Real Estate Company owns a group of income-generating residential investment real estates in the State
of Kuwait.

Masaa Real Estate Egypt Company

Through one of its subsidiaries, Mashaer Holding Company was able to prove its presence in the Egyptian real estate
market and form a good and excellent relationship with the customers, which earned it a good reputation that encouraged
the major Egyptian real estate companies to apply for joint investment with it. It has owned a number of villas,
apartments and shops in Sheikh Zayed City in two of the most important projects in Sheikh Zayed (Zayed Dunes &
Zayed Regency).

The Spot Real Estate Investment Company

On year 2014 The Spot Real Estate Investment Company was established which owned the Spot Shopping Mall in
front of the American University located the Fifth Settlement in New Cairo. Spot Real Estate Investment Company
has a capital of 147,153,840 Egyptian Pounds only.

13
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The Audit Committee’s Report
for the Fiscal Year ended on the 31 st of December 2019

In compliance with the implementation of the good governance rules, the Board of Directors formed an Audit
Committee to support the Board in its supervisory role; and that is by verifying the adequacy of the Internal Control
Systems, supervising the Internal Audit Processes, and ensuring the independence of the Company’s External Auditor.

Committee’s Formation:

o The Audit Committee was reformed on 14/05/2018, and it consists of (3) members, including:

S.N. Name Committee’s Membership
1 Mr. Nawaf Abdullah Al-Refae Committee Chairman
2 Mr. Haitham Tawfiq Al-Furaih Member
3 Mr. Saleh Abdulaziz Al-Sarawi Member
4 Mr. Ahmed Bader Al-Aslawi Secretary

Committee’s Meetings:
The Committee held 10 meetings during 2019.

Committee’s Tasks:

o Recommend to the Board of Directors to approve the appointment of the Internal Auditor and determine his fees.

o Recommend to the Board of Directors to reappoint the External Auditors, determine their fees, and review their
appointment letters.

o Follow-up with the External Auditors’ work and ensure that they do not perform other work for the Company
other than the services required by the audit profession.

o Study the External Auditors’ notes on the Company’s financial statements and follow up with what has been done
in their regard.

o Study the applicable accounting policies; give its opinion; and provide recommendation to the Board of Directors
in their regard.

o Assess the adequacy of the Internal Control Systems applied within the Company, and prepare a report containing
the Committee’s recommendations in this regard.

« Review the periodic financial statements and submit them to the Board of Directors, along with expressing its
opinion and recommending their adoption.

o Review and approve the audit plans proposed by the Internal Auditor and make notes on them.

o Review the results of the regulatory authorities’ reports and ensure that the necessary measures have been taken in
their regard.

+ Ensure that the Company complies with the relevant laws, policies, regulations and instructions.
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The Committee’s Achievements During 2019
During the fiscal year that ended on the 31st of December 2019, the Committee achieved the following tasks:

Financial Statements and Reports

Review the financial statements and reports before submitting them to the Board of Directors, express its opinion
and give recommendations on them; and the following are the financial statements that are submitted to the Audit
Committee:

« Financial statements for the periods ended on the 31st of March 2019.

« Financial statements for the periods ended on the 30th of June 2019.

« Financial statements for the periods ended on the 30th of September 2019.

o Financial statements for the year ended on the 31st of December 2019.

Internal Audit

« Review and approve the Internal Audit action plan.

« Discuss the Internal Audit Reports and the corrective actions taken by the Management for these notes.
o Supervise the Internal Audit work and follow up with the internal audit achievements.

« Appoint an independent external office to assess the Internal Audit.

Internal Control Systems
« Appoint an External Auditor to examine and assess the Internal Control Systems, and an independent auditor
office was appointed to examine and assess the Company’s Internal Control Systems.

External Auditor

o The Committee reviewed the services carried out by the External Auditors and it reviewed and confirmed
the independence and objectivity of the External Auditors.

o The Committee met with the External Auditors and discussed the nature and scope of the audit work that they
performed in accordance with the International Standards of Auditing (ISA), the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and other regulatory requirements.

o The Committee also discussed the accounting policies with the External Auditor.

Committee Chairman

15
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Corporate Governance Report
for the period ended on the 31st of December 2019

First Rule:

“Building a Balanced Structure for the Board of Directors”

A Summary of the Board’s Composition as follows:

Member Classification (Executive/
Non-Executive/Independent
Member), Secretary

Educational Qualification Date of Election / Secretary’s

and Practical Experience Appointment

Fahad Abdullah Al-Saleh Independent Master of Business Administration (MBA) 15/05/2016
Chairman of the Board of Directors 20 years of experience
Haitham Tawfiq Al-Furaih Non-Executive Master of Business Administration (MBA) 25/05/2016
Vice Chairman 16 years of experience
Mansour Hamad Al-Mubarak Non-Executive Bachelor of Business Administration 03/01/2011
Board Member and Finance

More than 30 years of experience

Saleh Abdulaziz Al-Sarawi Non-Executive Bachelor of Business Administration 27/05/2012
Board Member in Information Systems (M.LS)
16 years of experience

Nawaf Abdullah Al-Refae Independent Bachelor of Business Administration - 03/05/2017
Board Member Marketing
23 years of experience

Ziad Bin Fouad Al-Saleh Non-Executive Bachelor of Business Administration 08/03/2012
Board Member 23 years of experience

Abdulaziz Zaid Al-Subaie Executive Bachelor of Finance 03/05/2017
Board Member & CEO 17 year of experience

Ali Haroun Ibrahim Secretary Master of International Business Law 13/05/2018
Secretary 28 years of experience

16
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A Summary of the Company’s Board Meetings Through
the Following Statement:
The Board’s Meetings During 2019:

MeetingNo. Meeting No. MeetingNo. Meeting No. MeetingNo. Meeting No. = MeetingNo. Meeting No. = Meeting No.
(1/2019) (2/2019) (3/2019) (4/2019) (5/2019) (6/2019) (7/2019) (8/2019) (9/2019)

held on held on held on held on held on held on held on held on held on Number Of

Meetings

31/3/2019  31/3/2019  9/05/2019 9/05/2019 24/07/2019 24/07/2019 7/11/2019  7/11/2019 29/12/2019

Fahad Abdullah Al-Saleh / / / / / / / / / 9
Haitham Tawfiq Al-Furaih / / / / / / / / / 9
Abdulaziz Zaid Al-Subaie / / / / / / / / / 9

Ziad Bin Fouad Al-Saleh X X X X X b X X X 0

Mansour Hamad Al-Mubarak ~ / / X bq e X / / X 4

Nawaf Abdullah Al-Refae / / / / / / / / X 8

Saleh Abdulaziz Al-Sarawi / / / / / / / / / 9

A Summary on the Application of the Registration, Coordination, and Maintenance Requirements for
the Minutes of the Meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors:

The Secretary, with the help of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, prepares the Board’s agendas and sends
invitations to the Board Members at least three days before the meeting; while providing them with all the documents
and data proposed for discussion within the meeting’s clauses. Afterwards, the Secretary records the minutes of the
meetings and numbers it according to the meeting’s convening date by year; he then records all the Board Members’
decisions and discussions, records the results of the votes on the Board’s decisions, and works on maintaining its
documents, and then such documents will be signed and maintained by the Secretary and all the present members;
provided that the information will be easily provided to the members who wish to access them. Furthermore, the
Secretary provides information and coordination between the Board Members and the other stakeholders at the
Company, including the shareholders and the Company’s various managements.

17
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Second Rule
Proper Identification of Tasks and Responsibilities

A Summary on How the Company Determines the Policy of the Functions, Responsibilities and Duties of Each
Member of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management; In Addition to the Authorities and Powers Delegated
to the Executive Management:

Tasks and Responsibilities

The Board of Directors adopted the Board’s regulations, which explain in detail all of the Board’s tasks, powers and
specializations; as the Board adopted the job descriptions of the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management, which explain the separation of tasks and powers between the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management in a manner that ensures the full independence and effectiveness for all the parties. In addition, the
Company has a table for identifying the powers for approving the transactions; and the Board’s main tasks include
the following:

« Develop the Company’s objectives, strategies, plans, and policies; its major business plans and financial structure

and the Company’s organizational and functional structures, while conducting periodic review on them.

o Approve the annual discretionary budgets and the interim and annual financial statements.

o Supervise the Company’s main capital expenditures; as well as the ownership and alienation of shares and assets.

The Executive Management’s Tasks and Responsibilities:

The Company’s Executive Management, which is represented by the Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Executives
performs a set of tasks that can be summarized as follows:

o Implement the general strategy and the detailed plans approved by the Board of Directors.

o Work on implementing all the Company’s internal policies, regulations and systems approved by the Board
of Directors.

« Develop an integrated accounting system that maintains books, records and accounts that reflect the financial
statements and income accounts in a detailed and accurate manner; in order to maintain the Company’s assets.

o Develop the Internal Control and Risk Management Systems; ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of these
systemsmanage the day-to-day work, and conduct the activity; in addition to managing the Company’s resources
optimally and working on maximizing the profits and reducing the expenses; in line with the Company’s overall
objectives and strategy.

 Prepare periodic (financial and non-financial) reports on the development of the Company’s activities in light
of the Company’s strategic plans and objectives, and submit such reports to the Board of Directors.

o Prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) approved
by the Kuwaiti Capital Markets Authority.

o Active participation in establishing and developing a culture of ethical values within the Company.

Board’s Report During the Year:

In 2019, the Board of Directors has performed many tasks, and the following is a statement of the Board’s
main achievements:

« Following-up with the Company’s performance and what has been achieved from the strategic plan.

« Entering and exiting a number of local and regional investments and projects.

18
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o Reviewing the Company’s interim and annual financial statements.

+ Reviewing and adopting the decisions of The Nominations and Remunerations Committee and The Audit
and Risk Committee.

» Reviewing and discussing the reports prepared by the Management.

o Reviewing and updating the Company’s organizational structure according to the governance requirements.

o Ensuring that the Company complies with the laws and legislations related to the Company’s activities.

o Discussing the risks facing the Company’s business and the acceptable risk level.

« Following-up with the application of the corporate governance instructions.

« Studying the investment opportunities to diversify the Company’s income sources.

o Exiting from the non-profit projects.

A Summary on the Application of the Board’s Requirements for the Formation of Specialized Independent
Committees; Taking into Account the Following:

In line with the CMA’s 15th book “Corporate Governance”, the Board of Directors has formed each of the following
committees: The Audit Committee, The Risk Committee and The Nominations and Remunerations Committee.

First: Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three non-executive members, including an independent member, and it is mainly
responsible for reviewing the periodic financial statements before submitting them to the Board of Directors and
giving opinions and recommendations on them; in order to ensure the fairness and transparency of the financial
reports; as the Board of Directors delegates the Committee with responsibilities, powers and tasks related to
the technical supervision of the Internal Audit Management in the Company; in order to verify its effectiveness in
carrying out the work and tasks specified by the Board of Directors.

Among the Committee’s Achievements:

o Reviewing the quarterly and annual financial statements and reports before submitting them to the Board of
Directors and giving opinions and recommendations on them.

» Reviewing and approving the internal audit action plan.

« Discussing the internal audit reports and the Management’s corrective actions on these notes.

o Supervising the internal audit work and following up with the internal audit achievements.

» Appointing an independent external office to assess the internal audit.

» Appointing an independent external auditor to make the internal control report.

o Following-up with the Company’s compliance with the relevant laws and legislations.

The Audit Committee was reconstituted on 14/05/2018 and its validity is related to the current Board’s term, and it
consists of (3) members, namely:

Mr. Nawaf Abdullah Al-Refae Committee Chairman
Mr. Haitham Tawfiq Al-Furaih Member

Mr. Saleh Abdulaziz Al-Sarawi Member

Mr. Ahmed Bader Al-Aslawi Secretary

The Committee held (10) meetings.

19



Annual Report 2019 : '

donal il et din

Second: Risk Committee

The Risk Committee consists of three non-executive members, and it is mainly responsible for establishing effective internal
control systems to monitor the integrity and accuracy of financial statements and the efficiency of the Company’s
business; in addition to assessing the compliance with the regulatory controls; as the Board delegates the Committee’s
responsibilities, powers and tasks that are related to identifying, assessing and monitoring all of the Company’s risks
and developing solutions for them; along with developing policies and regulations for the Risk Management in line
with company to avoid occurring of risk.

Among the Committee’s Achievements:

 Appointing a specialized risk management company.

« Approving the plan submitted on the risks and submitting it to the Board of Directors for approval.

« Submitting periodic reports to the Board of Directors on the nature of the risks faced by the Company.

» Reviewing the organizational structure and making recommendations about it, and then submitting it to the Board.

The Risk Committee was reconstituted on 04/11/2018 and its validity is related to the current Board’s term, and it
consists of (3) members, namely:

Mr. Saleh Abdulaziz Al-Sarawi Committee Chairman
Mr. Nawaf Abdullah Al- Refae Member

Mr. Haitham Tawfiq Al-Furaih Member

Mr. Ahmed Bader Al-Aslawi Secretary

The Committee held (4) meetings.

Third: Nominations and Remunerations Committee

The Nominations and Remunerations Committee consists of three members; one of which is an independent member
and it is chaired by a non-executive Board Member. This Committee is responsible for preparing recommendations
regarding the nominations for the Board Members and Executive Management positions, along with providing
remunerations on the policies and regulations governing the award of compensations and remunerations.

Among the Committee’s Achievements:

« The Committee approved the succession plan.
« Development of the job descriptions for the executive, non-executive and independent members.

The Nominations and Remunerations Committee was constituted on 01/11/2018 and its validity is related to
the current Board’s term, and it consists of (3) members, namely:

Mr. Fahad Abdullah Al-Saleh Committee Chairman
Mr. Mansour Hamad Al-Mubarak Member

Mr. Abdulaziz Zaid Al-Subaie Member

Ms. Shereen Abdelrahman Al-Abdullah Secretary

The Committee held (2) meetings.

20
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Third Rule
“Selection of Competent Persons for the Membership of the Board
of Directors and the Executive Management”

o A Summary on the Application of the Requirements for the Formation of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee:
The Nominations and Remunerations Committee works on completing the Committee’s requirements by establishing
a clear remuneration policy for the Board of Directors and the Senior Executives, and identifying the different
segments for the remunerations to be awarded to the employees; in addition to conducting a periodic (annual) review
for the remuneration awarding policy, and assessing its effectiveness in achieving its desired objectives.

o Report on the Remunerations awarded to the Board Members and the Executive Management

The Chairman of the Board of Directors of the General Assembly of the Company shall report on all transactions
with senior management employees and Board Members, which shall include the awards granted to Board Members
and Executive Management, and the General Assembly of the Company shall approve such transactions and the
awards granted to board members and Executive Management.

Fourth Rule
“Ensuring the Integrity of the Financial Reports”

o Written Undertakings from Both the Board of Directors and the Executive Management Regarding the Safety
and Integrity of the Prepared Financial Reports:

Mashaer Holding Company is keen on the integrity and safety of the financial statements before the shareholders and
the regulatory authorities; as the Executive Management and the Financial Management have signed undertakings for
the validity and integrity of these statements. Furthermore, the financial statements integrity and safety undertaking
has been approved and signed by the Board members for the fiscal year ended on the 31st of December 2019.

21
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The Finance Manager's Acknowledgment of the Financial
Statements’ Integrity

As the Senior Manager - Finance Department of the Mashaer Holding Company, I, Anwar Ul-Haq Abdul Hagq,
acknowledge that I have viewed the financial statements of the Mashaer Holding Company (K.S.C. - Public) for
the fiscal year ended on the 31st of December 2019. Based on the information in my possession, the financial
statements and information contained in this report are shown in a fair manner in terms of all the material
aspects; in addition to the reports related to the Company’s activity.

This is my acknowledgment in this regard.

Senior Manager — Finance Department

(Signed)
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The Executive Management’s Acknowledgment of the Financial
Statements’ Integrity

As the CEO and member of the Board of Directors of the Mashaer Holding Company, I, Abdulaziz Zaid Al-Subaie,
acknowledge that I have viewed the financial statements of the Mashaer Holding Company (K.S.C. - Public) for
the fiscal year ended on the 31st of December 2019. Based on the information in my possession, the financial statements
and information contained in this report are shown in a fair manner in terms of all the material aspects; in addition
to the reports related to the Company’s activity.

This is my acknowledgment in this regard.

CEO and Board Member
(Signed)

23
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Corporate Governance Report
31st of December 2019

Ensuring the Integrity of the Financial Reports
Board’s Acknowledgement:

We, the Chairman and Members of the Board of Directors of the Mashaer Holding Company, acknowledge and
undertake the accuracy and integrity of the Company’s consolidated financial statements that have been provided to
the External Auditor; and that the Company’s financial reports have been submitted properly and fairly in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applied in the State of Kuwait and approved by the
Kuwait Capital Markets Authority; and that these reports reflect the Company’s financial position as of the 31st of
December 2019, based on the information and reports received by the Executive Management and the Independent
External Auditor and the due diligence exercised to verify the integrity and accuracy of these reports.

Member Name Position Signature
Fahad Abdullah Al-Saleh Board Chairman (Signed)
Independent Member
Haitham Tawfiq Al-Furaih Board Vice-Chairman (Signed)

Non-Executive Member

Abdulaziz Zaid Al-Subaie Board Member & CEO (Signed)
Executive Member

Mansour Hamad Al-Mubarak Board Member (Signed)
Non-Executive Member

Nawaf Abdullah Al-Refae Board Member (Signed)
Independent Member
Saleh Abdulaziz Al-Sarawi Board Member (Signed)

Non-Executive Member

24
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o A Summary on the Application of the Requirements for the Formation of the Audit Committee:
The Board of Directors formed the Audit Committee in accordance with the requirements of the 15th Book of
Corporate Governance issued by the CMA, and the Committee has held 10 meetings to date.

o In the Event of a Conflict Between the Audit Committee’s Recommendations and the Board’s Decisions,

a Statement will be Included Detailing the Recommendations and the Reason(s) Behind the Board’s Decision not
to Comply thereto:

There is no conflict between the Audit Committee’s recommendations and the Board’s decisions.

« Confirmation of the Independence and Impartiality of the External Auditor:
The Audit Committee made a recommendation to the Board of Directors to appoint an External Auditor and
confirmed his independence and impartiality.

Fifth Rule
“Development of Sound Internal Control and Risk Management Systems”

o A Brief Statement on the Application of the Requirements for the Formation of an Independent Department/
Office/Unit for the Risk Management:

An independent Risk Management Department has been formed under the Risk Committee and a specialized
consulting firm has been appointed to study and assess the Company’s activities and risks; as it submits its reports to the
Risk Committee, which in turn makes recommendations to the Board of Directors in order to avoid their occurrence.

o A Summary on the Application of the Requirements for the Formation of the Risk Committee:

The Risk Management Committee aims to assist the Board of Directors in supervising the matters related to
the current and future activity risks; as the Committee reviewed the periodic reports and confirmed that the corrective
procedures were taken; and it reviewed the reports issued by the specialized external company that was contracted
to manage the risks of the Company’s activities; as it submitted its recommendations to the Board of Directors for
approval and adopted some mechanisms to avoid risks.

o A Summary on the Internal Control and Regulatory Systems:

The Company has internal control and regulatory systems covering all its activities, which work on maintaining
the integrity of the Company’s financial position and the accuracy of its data; and that is through the existence of
approved organizational structures that are based on the principle of separation of tasks and prevent the conflicts of
interest. Furthermore, the Company has policies manuals and business procedures that clearly determine the tasks
and responsibilities, and the Company has entrusted one of the independent audit offices to conduct the examination
and assessment of the internal control systems for all of the Company’s managements.

o A Brief Statement on the Application of the Requirements for the Formation of an Independent Department/
Office/Unit for the Internal Audit:

An Internal Audit Unit has been established following the Audit Committee directly, along with contracting with
one of the competent audit companies; in order to carry out the internal audit work on the Company’s managements
according to the approved plan; and then the Unit submits its reports to the Committee, which meets with
the Internal Auditor on a periodic basis, and then the Committee submits its recommendations to the Board of Directors.

Sixth Rule
“Promoting Professional Conduct and Ethical Values”
o A Summary on the Labor Charter, which includes the Standards and Determinants of the Professional Conduct

and Ethical Value:
The updated Labor Charter has been adopted within the Company to promote a culture of professional conduct
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and corporate and ethical values, through the development of key guidelines representing the Company’s policies in
accordance with the governance rules. The Labor Charter aims to promote honest ethical conduct that reflects positively
on the Company and maintains the institutional environment that preserves the value and integrity of each individual
and provides an appropriate and effective work environment under the umbrella of the governance rules.

The Charter ensures compliance with the laws, rules and systems governing the Company’s activities and
operations, and it ensures the proper use of the Company’s assets, in addition to developing teamwork, establishing
the employee’s loyalty to the Company, and ensuring the retention of the experienced and competent employee; as
these standards included the rules and ethics of conduct and explained how managers, officials or employees handle
the Company’s stakeholders or the public dealing with the Company. Furthermore, the Labor Charter included all
the instructions that must be followed by the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management and
the Company’s employees; in order to achieve the interests of the Company, and its shareholders and stakeholders.

« A Summary of the Policies and Mechanisms on the Reduction of the Conflicts of Interest Cases:

Within the framework of the Board Members™ keenness on ensuring the reliability, integrity and transparency of
the shareholders’ interests and to avoid actual conflicts of interest in the personal and professional relations between
them, the Company adopted a conflict of interest policy and reviewed the policies of the dealings with the relevant
parties in accordance with the nature of the Company’s business and the regulatory developments in the markets.
The Company adopted a general policy to report any violations or infringements, and this policy ensures that the
Company’s employees can report their complaint in relation to any improper practice by applying the appropriate
mechanisms; in order to allow an investigation to be conducted in these matters, while ensuring that the amount is
protected to avoid any adverse reaction or harm when reporting this practice.

Seventh Rule
“Accurate and Timely Disclosure and Transparency”

o A Summary on the Application of the Accurate and Transparent Submission and Disclosure Mechanisms that
define the Disclosure’s Aspects, Fields and Characteristics:

In compliance with the disclosure and transparency policy adopted by the Board to enhance the mechanisms of
accurate disclosure of all the fundamental issues related to the Company’s performance and financial position, the
Company’s relevant managements verify the Company’s disclosure of the essential information and the information
that the Company is legally committed to disclose to the Boursa Kuwait and the Capital Markets Authority; in
addition to the disclosure through the Company’s website, and all that is contained in the annual reports, the interim
financial statements, and the information related to the Company’s activities.

o A Summary on the Application of the Requirements for the Disclosure Register of the Members of the Board of
Directors and the Executive Management:

The Company is obliged to follow the corporate governess rules regarding the Board Members and Executive
Management declarations in this issue, declaration records has been effective through investors affairs unit; as the
register can be viewed by all of the Company’s shareholders. The Investors Affairs Unit is keen on updating the data
of this register periodically to reflect the reality of the situation of the involved parties.

o A Brief Statement on the Application of the Requirements for the Formation of the Investors Affairs Management Unit:
The organizational structure includes the Investors Affairs Management Unit, which is responsible for providing
the data, information and reports needed by the prospective investors through the accepted disclosure methods,
including the Company’s website.

o A Brief Summary on the Development of the I'T Infrastructure, and the Heavy Reliance thereon in the Disclosure
Processes:

The Investors Affairs Management Unit page was created on the Company’s website entitled «Investor Relations»
as it provides information and data about the Company and various reports that may be needed by the Company’s
shareholders, the economists and the current or prospective investors.

26



Annual Report 2019 N 'I

ol nll el i
Pty .

Eighth Rule
“Respect for Shareholders’ Rights”

o A Summary on the Application of the Requirements for the Identification and Protection of the Shareholders’
General Rights, in order to ensure Justice and Equality among all the Shareholders:

The Company is committed to its responsibilities towards the shareholders; as it adopts the corporate governance
standards; due to its belief that the proper application of the corporate governance enhances the confidence of its
shareholders and others; as the Company treats all the shareholders equally without discrimination and it does not
block any of the shareholders’ information or rights by any means. The Company adopts a special shareholders rights
protection policy that shows the role of both the Board of Directors and the Executive Management in protecting the
shareholders’ rights and ensuring that all the shareholders enjoy the same voting rights and the same treatment and
have access to all the voting information, while giving them the opportunity to discuss it with the Board of Directors
and ask it about any tasks or actions carried out by the Board.

o A Summary on the Establishment of a Special Register to be kept at the Clearing Agency, within the Requirements
for Continuous Follow-up with the Shareholders’ Data:

The Company contracts with the Kuwaiti Clearing Company; in order to keep the shareholders’ names, nationalities,
and homelands, and the number of shares owned by each of them; as the Company’s shareholders can view their
contribution register, and the data contained in the mentioned register will be dealt with in accordance with the
highest protection and confidentiality levels.

As for the strategic shareholders, they will disclose any changes in their shares to the Company and the Boursa
Kuwait.

o A brief Summary on How to Encourage the Shareholders to Participate and Vote in the Meetings of the Company’s
Assemblies:

The Company follows a set of procedures that allow the shareholders to participate, discuss and vote in the Company’s
Ordinary and Extraordinary Assembly meetings, as follows:

SN Procedure Tool
1 Publish (4) invitation announcements to attend Press Announcements
the General Assembly at intervals.
2 The General Assembly’s date will be announced on the Company’s website. Website
Achieve direct communication with the shareholders to confirm their Phone Calls
3 attendance, and provide them with the necessary and relevant financial

statements regarding these meetings.

Ninth Rule
“Recognition of the Stakeholders’ Role”

o A Brief Summary on the Systems and Policies that ensure the Protection and Recognition of the Shareholders” Rights:
The Company adopted an internal policy and regulations to protect the stakeholders’ rights in all its internal and
external transactions; in line with the laws and instructions issued by the relevant regulatory authorities; as the
Policy clarified who are the parties whose interests conflict with the Company, and the roles and responsibilities
that the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management are committed thereto under this policy.
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This Policy also clarified the role played by the Company’s Conformity and Compliance Management in verifying
the adequacy of the systems and mechanisms and their ability to detect conflicts. This Policy also demonstrated
the role played by the Secretary in coordination with the Internal Audit Management towards the responsibility of
pursuing the implementation of the Conflicts of Interest Policy. Furthermore, the Policy also explained how to disclose
the conflicts of interest and verify their existence, and the Board’s Secretary keeps a record of conflicts of interest.

o A Brief Summary on How to Encourage the Stakeholders to Participate in the Follow-up with the Company’s
Various Activities:

The Company follows a series of procedures that allow the stakeholders to follow up with the Company’s various
activities, through press releases and the news to be included on the website.

Tenth Rule
“Performance Enhancement and Improvement”

o A Summary on the Application of the Requirements for the Development of Mechanisms that Allow the Members
of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management to Receive Continuous Training Programs and Courses:
Through its strategic plan, the Company aspires to train the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management in training programs and workshops; in order to achieve their desired goals towards the Company in
accordance with the CMA requirements. To this end, the Company organized a training course for the Board Members;
in order to raise their efficiency in relation to their business tasks as Board Members.

« A Summary on How to Assess the Board’s Performance as a Whole, and the Performance of Each Member of

the Board of Directors and the Executive Management:

The Company prepared the mechanisms for assessing the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management; and that is by developing a set of objective performance measurement indicators that are related to the
extent to which the Company’s strategic objectives are achieved.

o A Summary on the Board’s Efforts in Creating the Institutional Values for the Company’s Employees:
The Company has policies and procedures that contribute in achieving the strategic objectives and promoting the
employees’ institutional values; in order to contribute in maintaining the Company’s financial integrity.

Eleventh Rule
“Focus on the Importance of Social Responsibility”

o A Summary on the Development of a Policy that Ensures the Achievement of a Balance Between the Company’s
Objectives and the Community’s Objectives:

For quite some time, the Mashaer Company has always been proactive in carrying out many initiatives in the social
responsibility field, and the Company’s Board has adopted a Social Responsibility Policy that aims to achieve
a balance between the Company’s objectives and the objectives that the community seeks to achieve; as the Mashaer
Company seeks to improve the skills of its employees and develop their performance in a manner that suits the requirements
of their jobs. Furthermore, the Company seeks — through the Human Resources Management - to obtain the resumes
of the job seekers; in order to choose those who meet the required conditions to fight unemployment.

As part of its community initiatives, the Company makes field visits to orphanages or nursing homes from time to
time; in order to provide them with moral support and inform them that others feel them, along with providing them

with some souvenirs.
— j/
V4

Fahad Abdullah Al-Saleh

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MASHAER
HOLDING COMPANY K.S5.C.P.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Chpinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.F.

(the “Parent Company "} and its Subsidiaries (collecrively, the “Group™), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position &5 st 31 December 201%, and the consolidated
statement of peofit or [oss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, comsolidated
statement of cash flows and consolidated statement of changes in equaty for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including the summary of significant
aceonting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanving consolidated financial swmtements presemt fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and ils
consolidated financial performance and i1s consodidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with [ntematicnal Financial Reporting Standards (TFRSs).

Baxils for Opirian

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internobonal Stendards on Auditing (I5As). Our
respongibilities under those standards are finther described in the duditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit af the Consolidated Financial Statemenis section of our reporl. We are indepeadent of
the proup in sccordmce with the mtemational* Code af Erhics for Professional Avcountants
{inefuding fnternational Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code, We believe that the awdit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

Kev Audit Masters

Key audit matters are those maners that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the curment period. These mattors were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial stalements as & whote, and in
fomming our opinicn hereon, and we do mol provide 3 separate opinion on thess maticrs. For cach
matter below, aur description of how our sudit addressed the maner is provided in that conexi.

We have fulfilled the responsibilines described in the Audivor & Responsibiliries for the Audic of
the Consolidaled Fingnelal Stalterrenty section of vur report, including in relation i (hese marters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed [0 respond to our
assessment of the risks of material missiaternent of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedwres performed to address the matiers below,
provide the basis for our audit opinien on the accompanying consolidated financial stitements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MASHAER
HOLDING COMPANY K.5.C.P. (confinued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Awdit Mertters {comtinued)
] Tmipairmvent of investment in associares

The Group has investment in associates with a carrying value of KI) 6,016,339 as at 31
December 2019, Investment m associates are accounied for under the eguity method of
sccounting for associates, whereby these investments are initially stated at cost, and are adjusted
thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the Group's share of he net assets of the associates
less any impairment provisions.

Impairment of investment in associates is significant to our audit as the management uses
judgments and estimates to assess these investments for impairment. Accordingly, we have

considered this as a key audit matter.

As part of our audit procedures, we assessed whether the management has identified any
indications of impairment in its investees, including signiﬁna.nl sdverse changes in economy,
market, legal environment, industry or the political environment affecting the investees
business also considering any changes in the investee’s financial condition, We further assesscd
management’s assumplions, including the comparison of relevant assumptions to industry
benchmarks and economic forecasts to establish whether there are any indicators of impairment.

Additionally, we have also assessed the adeguecy of the disclosures relating to Group's
investment in associates in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

] Fair valuation of investment properties

Investment propertics represent a significant part of the total assets of the Group and are
measured at fair valee of KD 19,935,584 &s at 31 December 2019.

The fair value of Group’s investment properties have been determined by external real estate
appraizer, The determination of fair value of investment properties is dependent on key inputs,
such as rental value, maintenance status, market knowledge and historical transactions, which,
although not direcily observable, bt are corroborated by observable market data. The
disclosures relating 1o the inpurts are relevant, given the estimation uncertainty involved in these
valuations. Given the size and complexity of the valuation of investment properties, and the
impartance of the disclosures relating fo the inputs used in such valuations, we have considered
this as a key audit matter.

We hawve tested the inputs and assumptions made by management of the Group and the
appropriatencss of the properties” related data supporting the external appraiser’s valuations.
We performed procedures for areas of nisk and estimation. This incleded, where relevant,
comparison of judgments made 1o current market practices and challenging the valuations on a
sample basis. Further, we have considerad the objectivity, independence and competence of the
external real estate appraiser. We also assessed the appropristeness of the disclosures relating
to the investment properties of the Group in Note 9 1o the consclidated financial statements,
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INDEFPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MASHALR

HOLDING COMPANY K.S5.C.P. {continued )
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Chther information included in the Group's 2019 Anmual Repors

Management iz responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the
information included in the group's 2019 Annual Report, other than the consolidated finencial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. We obiained the repont of the Parent Company’s
Board of Directors, prior to the date of our suditor’s report, and we expect to obusn the remaining
sections of the Annual Report afler the date of our auditor”s report,

Cur opinion on the consolidated financial starements does not cover the other information and we
do not and will not express any fomm of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated [inancial statements, our responsibility is to read
the ather information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materiall y inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audil, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a materinl misstatemnent of this other information, we are recuired o report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard,

Responeibilities of Manogement and the Those Chavged with Govermemee for the Consolidmed
Financial Statements

Mumnagement is respanaible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the [FRSs, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary 10 enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatemenl, whether due o fraud or ermor.

In preparing the consclidated financial statements, management 15 responsible for astessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 1o
liguidate the Group or 1o cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with povernance are responsgible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
P]'i!'l-ﬁE‘.'LE

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidaed Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboud whether the consolidated financial
stalements as 2 whole are free from materizl missiatement, whether due 1o frewd or ermor, &nd
issue an auditor’s repon that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 8 high fevel of
agsurance, but 15 not & guarantee that an andit conducied in accordance with 15As will always
detect a material missiatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or emmor and are
considered material if, mdividually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
sialements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MASHAER
HOLDING COMPANY K.5.C.P. {continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Finaneial Statements (continued)

Avditor ‘s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Congolidated Finamelal Siotements feomiinued)
As part of an sudit in aceordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and mamitain
professional seepticism throughout the audit. We alse:

s ITdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial staements,
whether due to frsud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 1o those nsks,
ared obtoin awdit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opmien.
The risk of not delecting & material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from emor, a8 [aud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of intemnal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 1o the audit in order to design audn
procedures thal are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's intemal control.

» Evaluate the appropriatencss of accounting policics used and the reasonableneéss of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

® Conclude on the appropriateness of mansgement’s use of the going concerm basiz of
accouniing and based on the audit evidence obtamed, whether 4 material uncertainty exists
related 1o evenis or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
asa going concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the refated disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusons are
based cn the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our anditor's report. However, falure
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 1o continue as a going concemn.

* Evaluate the overall presemation, strecture and content of the consolideted finencial
statements, including the disclosurcs, and whether the consolidated [nancial statements
represent the underlving ransactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit cvidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group 1o express an opinicn on the consolidated finencial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charped with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in intemmal contro] that we identify during our audit,

We also provide those charged with govemnance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements tegarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and cther matters that may reasonshly be thought to bear on our independence, and
where appiicable, related safeguards,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MASHAER
HOLDING COMPANY K.5.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financizl Statements (continued)

Auditor's Responsibiilities for the Audit of the Congolidated Financlel Statements {cantinued)
From the matters communicated with those charged with povernance, we determine these matters
that were of most significance in the awdit of the consolidaicd linancial statements of the current
year and are therefore the key audit matters, We describe these matters in our auditors" report
unfess law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected (o outweigh the public imercst
benefits of such communication,

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermare, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Pirent Company and
the consolidated fnancial siatements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent
Company’s Board of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in
accondance therewith, We further report that, we obtained all the information and explanations
that we required for the purpose of our sudit and that the consolidated financial statemnents
incorporete all information that is required by the Companies Law No 1 of 2016, as amended,
and its execufive regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company's Memorandum of
Incorporation and Articles of Association, that an inventory was duly carmied out and that, 1o the
best of our knowled ge and belief, o violations of the Compandes Law Mo .1 of 2016, as amended,
and its executive regulstions, as amended, or of the Parent Compuny's Memomndum of
Incorporation and Articles of Association have oceurred during the vear ended 31 December 2019
that might have had & material effect on the business of the Parent Compeny or on its finencial
posilion.
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Mashaer Holding Company E.8.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year endied 31 Decermber 2019
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and itz Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the vesr ended 3] December 2019
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Mashaer Helding Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

COMIOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITICN
Ag an 11 Decenvber 2000
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the yea ended 11 Decomber 2019

OFERATING ACTI¥ITIES
Profik {loss) bedfore tim

Acfinstemenis i Fegvanste anafin i) Defone b 1o s ool o,
Provlshon for employess” end of service benefins
Cabln on e ol Evesme propenies
gl anvestrmen| meoms frem franciel saach
Revalualinn kogses from imvesimenl propemiey
Share of resulls of wsociner
Tl forefgn onchamgs difTerences.

Libor income

Amartlsition of |sise prepaymes
Fimnnce costs

lenpalement |asses and other provisions
Reverssl af provision o lonper requinad
Dirpracimiion o furnfure snd equipmissd
Dwpreciatsm ol nighl-of-us: asseis

Champer i operating armety and Kokl
Arcouniy roerivable prd ol wsscly
Asenuniss paysble e othir lishilited
Amaurdss doe fromm relaed petics
Amounds il 1o retiled pariley

Casl Nows rom operilicns
Employees' end of s=rvice benefine paid

Met cash Maves from operating acdividies

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Punghurse of fammivere and equipment

Presseds fram mie ol nvesimsn properties

Lapetnd =y pemdionns on myssemeni pmpenises

Casl prgined o basiness corbinssion

e movemznt of lnvestment depisits

[Mwalenmils ssesmed Trnm asarlnes

Fredseds fram moempiion of invessment ot FYOCT
Ineome froms invesesent deposil md dvidends reeenved

Mt cash flowes {used in) from investing aclivities

FIMARCING ACTIVITIES

Finance costs paid

Hes repayenent of iswneru aed murnbaha fhciflies
Payment of prisgipal pomion of feaze Nabiliies
Purchiss of tresahary dhdres

et ganh Noves used (8 finsncing activithes

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Tareign comercy imnsation sfusmmis
Cosh and bank balences o | Janueey

CAaSH AND Bafh BALANCES AT 3 DECEMBER

Ann-cash iresns excloded from the simdement of cesh flows:
Transiinnol adaimssm oo lee lahiStles onadomian of [FRS 16
Transifionn! adarstmen Lo right=nl-ust al mseis on dopiae al IFRES 16
Trarsitionnl aduistsent b fir valos meserve on asoptinn af IFRS 9

MNues

S0

19

HH]

I'he nached nofes 1 te 28 form post of thess consalidated finang s sinbaments

g 208
K K
1. 823,125 (4, 11235%)
3050 98,713
- [NELITT)
{ 138,260) 1 54035)
1584 BYT 3715445
(4Z4,645) [E7, 743}
1,778 (1,874}
B -
164,579 164 £
IR 42 212560
17,334 1G4S
(1,586,456 :
R L REL
357,003 d
1,598 515 TIE T
ST LA 5G]
(BRI ASE) TT.061
550,195 571
53493 LR )
I 804,135 2055041
M) 165
TR 2031343
4,34%)
- REERh L]
{3.350) y
31511 =
10,603 589 FIRE Lo el
- TRE55R
152,445 i
158,068 £33
TIITT AL ] 1 D624
1178, 742y 4502, 680)
AT | 1AT4RE)
T .
{60036 H
{477 386, 3 AR 14T
S48,610 (04,9471
T80 { 062
AN 280 SE2072
1138269 404 A5
S50.:H3
{930,683 .
- 26 416
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 Decermber 2019

I CORPORATE AND GROUPF INFURMATION
1.1 CORPOHRATE INFORMATIOMN

Meshacr Holding Company BS.C P {ike “Farens Company™) s a K owaiti pubilse sharahalding compamy incorporated
nnd domiciled in the State of Kuwait and whose shares are publicly midesd on Boursa Kuwair,

The Parent Company's majer shareholder is A'ayan Leasing and Envesomest Company K.5.C.F, a shareholding
caompany incorporased and domiciled inthe Swate of Kewnit and whose shares are publicly mraded

The consolidaed financial staremenas of the Parent Compssy and subsidiarkes (collectivedy the “Group™) for the veas
anded 11 Decammbaer 2019 wore astherisnd o Heue in seeordanse with o resolutica of the Parest Company®s Board
of Diirectiors on 20 Febraary 2030 and the sharehalders &t the anmoal generz] asssmbly meeting { AGM) have the powes
lo aiend thess comsolidaled Onancial sttemenls,

The registersd address of the Pareni Company is locased ot Grawite Tower, Ahmad Al Jnber sireet, Sharg, Kwwnin and
its posial sddress i P.O. Box 231040, Safnt 13052, Scate of Kuwait,

Thee Paresst Compeny is principally engaged @n establishing coempanles in Bowain and abeoad, lendlig o subsidiaries
andl associates and Investing excess cash flows bn Bvesiments marsged by specialised Mnancial institulions,

Infarmation an the Geoup's structune is provided below. Information on other relsted party reletianships of the Group
is provided in Mote 21.

12 GROUP INFORMATION
a) Subsidiaries

Thie cenzobilated lmmneial saemesils ncorparats the fisancial sttements of the Parenl Company and e sehsadiaries for
he yeer ended 11 Decensber 2009 Detalls of the subsidizries included in the consolidsed financial stabements ans as

fallows:
Coumiry af e anqaity Frincipal
Narme ineorpariog {nritreit avEviThn
20019 XK
Masa's Heal Estiie Company = K50, {Closed) Banwalt el W Real e
Huj| & Umrah Services Eonsortium = Masheer K5 fClesed) Haj) & Llmish
il 7 a7 sorvices
Muso's Feal Esne Egypr E5C° Egvl b ] Feal catale
D Al-Masa'n Fesd Estate 5.5.C, 1 KSA o 07 Real estate
Musheer Kuweil Umma Trip oogmading Company W L1 Foomait L] Iy UmemServices
The Spal Real Estate Compary * Emm &5 - lteal esmate

al  Associabes

Zel out below are the sssocistes of the Geoalp as &t 31 December. For moee dstails, refer i Mate 10,
Canimtey of Nogiy  Principal

M N carposaniy LarwFear Wk
0re HE
Haiar Tower Resl Eslzsbe Comgainy — K.5.C, [Chesed) = Kaanwuii 16 | i Real estaie
Raowahel Helding Compary K.5.C. {Chosed) B 1451 1E%2 Tressport servioes
Tewvel ool 1wy
(riblah Travel & Tourlsm Comgany K.5.C [ Closed) Kauwuli 046 4Hd4E  serviiss
The Spo Rl Eszare Compeny Epvga 5 58 el =41

"' The Group effective interest in the subsidiries is 100% The Group direcily holds the shares in the mspeclive
subsidiesis & mentiooed gbove, and 1he remadnisg shares are held indwectly m the name of nominges an behall of the
Paremt Company. The nomimees have confirmed in writmg, that the Parent Company is the beneficinl paner of the
shares in the suhsidiary.

I The Cirnup avwns hiss than 2096 of the wotmy rights af the mvestee, however (he Group determined thit i bas significant
influence becwase i€ has meaningful represemiation on the board of the invesies.

! The Parem: Comnpany holds 65% equity mterest in The Spot Beal Estate Compary, Durng the year, the Croup obtained
coearal gwver Spol Becnuse the comiracisal snd decizon-making reghts held by the other levestors, thas previously
prevepsed the Parent Company from contredling the invester, have elpsed (Mote 103

— — ——

4]



mrm g —

ll-al-J-JI-l L!l-‘-l.-

Mashaer Holding Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As ol and for the vear ended 31 December 2019

] BASIS OF FREFARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
.l BASES OF FREFARATHIN

The conmlidated financial sttements of the Gmoop have been prepired in aceordance with Intemational Financad
Repocting Standards ([FES) a5 fsswed by the Intemational Accounting Standasds Board (TASH),

The consolidatsd fmoncial statements have been prepared on a historical cosl bass, sxcepl for investment properiies
amgl financanl assets at fair wafue through cdher comprehersive income which Fave been measured at fuir vales,

The eonsolidoed finescial siatomonts are proseied e Kowaicl Cinar (KD, which iz abo the Parent Campany™s
fanetinnal and presentatson surreey.

1z CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Mew and amended sandards and interpretadions

The Group applied, for the Ars sime, comnin sandards wd amendmems, whikh are elfective for sinesl psricds
beginning on or after | Jonvery 2009 The ssfure and effect of the changis o8 8 rescll of adoption of thess new
accoumting samdards me deseribad bedmw

Several other amendments and inlerpregations apply for the first time in 2019, but do not have an impact on the
cocatalidated Hoanciol statements of the Groop. The Group has Aot early sdopled sy standands, mésmpretations or
améndments that have been Esved, but are ot vel effective,

IFRS 16 Leases”

IFRS 16 supersedss [AS 1T Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether 2n Amangemant comeing & Lesse, S1C-15
Crperating Lesses-Incentives and SEC-2T Eveluating the Substance of Transactions Invalving the Legal Form of &
Lease. The sandard sets oot the principles foe the recognition, memsurement, presentation ord disclosure of leases and
requises lessees o accol for all lesses under o sngle cn-balance sheet apode!.

Lessor steounting, ander IFRS 16 @ substantially unchanged under 1A 17, Lessors will contives (0 classify leases as
either operating or finance lesses using similer principles a3 in lAS 17, Thersfore, IFRS 16 did not hove an impacd for
|enzes where the Group is the lessor.

The Group sdopeed IFRS 16 using the modified rearospective methed of adaption with the date of indial spplscation
of | Janunry 2019, Under this method, the stnndard is applied retrospectively with the cumulazive effecs of initkally
applymg the ssanderd recopmised af the date of niElal appcatice. The Growp elected fo use the reesitien practics)
expedient allwdng the sandend w be spplied only 10 contracts thar were previously idemified & kases applying 145
17 and IFRIC 4 af the date of initial application. The Groep also elected o use the recagnition exemptions for bease
contracly that, at the commencement date, have 2 leace term of 12 monthe or less nnd do mot eontain a parchase optios
{"“shoristenm leases’ ), md lease contracts for which the underfying nsset = of low vales [ Towe-value asaes),

The effect of adoption IFRS 16 a5 w0 § January 200% is a3 follows:

KD
Aszets
Righi-of-use assen DR ERI
Linhilities
Lensa linhilifies V3LERT
#) Nature of the eMeen of adopiion of IFRS 16

The Growp kas loose contracts for various properties. Before the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group classified each of its
lemses (ns kesses) at the incepdion dot= s an operating lease. In nnooperafing lease, the leased propety was no
capitalised and the lease payments were recognised as st expense in the satensent of profitor los o8 & siraighd-line
bagis over she lesse jesm, Any peepaid rent end poconeed remd were recogmised under accounis recelvable and
prepayments end sccounts payable and accnmbs, respectively.
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Mashaer Holding Company K.8.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ag at and for the year emded 31 December 2019

4 BASIS OF PREFARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
L.z CHANGES 1IN ACCOUNTING FOLICIES {continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases' {continoed)

k) Summary of new accounting policies (conibnoed)

. Leaze Nabilliies

A the commencemest date of the lease. the Group recognises lease lbilites messured ot the present value of [ease
pairmemils B b made cver the luase term. The kase peyments include ficed payments (incleding in-subsiance fixed
payments) less any beage incentives receivable, variable lease poyments that de=pend on on Endex or & rate, arx smounis
expecied to be paid under residual value guoramices. The |ease payments also include the exercise price of a parchase
option reasonably cerfain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalies for terminating o lease, i the lesse
termm reflects the Growp exercising the aption o terminate. The variable lesse payments that donot depend on @i ndex
O & Taie are pecognisel as expimse in the poriod an which the esent ar condithim thal irigeers the payment accurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Oroup uses the incremental bormwing rate at the lese
commencerment date if the bamowmg rate implicd in the lease & npot resddly determinabde. After the commencement
date, the amount of kease fabilitses is mereased 1o reflect the scoretion of fimance cost and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the comying ameunt of |ease liabilites is remeasaned §f theree i a modificsion, a change
ins the lease termy, & changs in the in-substance fived lesse payments or & change @ (e assesament to purchase the
underlying assel.

- Shor-rera leaner ang leaes of fowevalue aeners

The Girowp applies the shor-tenm lesse recognibn exemphion {0 its short-ierm leases of property and squipment fie,
thase loases thal have & brase torm of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do nat contain 2 purchase
aption}. 1# alse applies the lonse of low-value nssels recognition exemption 1o leases of office equipment that are
cansidered of low valoe (L=, helow E5,000 (KD 1,5007), Lease payments on shor-term leases and leases of low-wlos
assets ore recognised 25 expenss on 2 straight-line basis over the kease term,

. Sipaiffoant fudeesrent [n defermining the lewte revi of corfrogs with rendead dpites

The Gircap determines he lease term &5 the non-caneetlabte serm of the lase, togather with amy periods covered by
an opabon o extend the lense iT'R = reasonably ceradin to be exerciied, of any persads covered by an oplion ta lerminabe
the besse, iF(n b reasonably cenain not v be exercised,

The Group has the opson, wder seene of s leases 1o bmase the msets foc additional serms, The Group applies
judgement in evalunting whether it is ressonably cemain to exercise the option o renew. That &, It congiders all
releyant factars that create an economic incesiive for it to exercise the renewal, Afer the commersement date, the
Ciraup reassesses ihe leass term (T there &5 a significans everd or changs In clrowmsiances bt B within (5 centrod @nd
affects its ability to exercise (or nod to exercise) the optice to renew {e.g. & change in buliness abrsegy)

L) STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The standards and interpretations that are fssoed, but nat vet effective, up to the deste of issunrce of the Group®s
finsncial stpements are disclosed below, The Group imends o adopt these standarde, ifzpplicable, whes they become
affective,

Amendments fo IFRS X Defaition of @ Brstness

In October JTE, the LASE issued amersdments 1o the definition of a business in IFRS 3 Business Combimadians b
help entithes determing whether an soquired se1 af sctivities and seets 15 a business or not, They clerify the minimum
requirersents far a busipess, remove the ass=ssment of whether market pasticipants are capable of replacing ooy
misimg elements, add gesdance 1o belp entities assess whether an acquired process is substangive, namow the
definitions of a business and of vefputs, and introduce an optianal foir value concentrmtion pest. Mew [Hustrative
exanpls were provided along with the amendments:

Since the anendenens apply prospectively 1o ransacisorg or ofher events that sccar on or after the date of Firs
applacation, the Groug will non be affected by these amendments on the dare ol iransitien,
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Az gt and for the year ended 11 Decamber 2(19

i BASIS OF PREFARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (romntinwed)
23 STAMDARDS ISSITED RUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continnad)

Amcdmciis 1o TAS | and LAS 8 Defirition of Moareria)

e Oteber 2008, (ke IASE szsad smendments to 145 | Presiaion of Fisancial Suavemeoaes el [AS § Acowtkg
Policigs, Changes i Accounting Estimstes and Errars 1o align the definition of ‘meterin’ soross (ke stundirds asd o
clarify certmin sipects of the definition. The new definition states ik, 'Infomsition is materal & amitting, mixslsing
ne abscuring it could reasonahly be expecied to nfloence decisions that the prisary wsers of general purpese fnancisl
setemnents make on the hasis of those financial statemerss, which provide financial infarmation abaut a specific
rEpOTHINg eity.”

Ths amendments o the definition of mserial is not expecied 1o have 8 significant impact an e Giroup's wonsn|deted
fimamcin] stalzrmends.

24 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The signilicant seesanting policies adopted in the preparation of the consnlidated finarcial Aafements Are ==
hetoar

Ekasis of consolidatbion

[l eonsobidated financeal ssatdmints comprios the fimancial swremenes of the Farent Company and iis subsidiarizs a5
&t the reporting dave. Costrel 15 schleved when the Groep |5 expozed, or a8 sights. 1o varishle refumms flom s
imvielvement with (i leveseee and hies che ability 1o affect those retures through i povwer over the Bvestee.
Specilically, the Grawp contrals 4 mwestee i and oaly if the Groop has:

= Power over the invesses (§.e., existing rights that give i the cumrent ability 1o direct the relevant activities of the
investe]

¢ Exposure, or rights, 1o vanable retums from its imvelvement with the investes

= The abilimy o use iis power over the invesice o offect its returns

Ciemarally, there i2 2 presumption thar & maporing of vading rights reswlts in conorel. To suppoet this pregunsprics and
when the Groop ket bess than & majoriy of the voting or sinilar cights of am investes, the Group cozsiders all relevant
fawces and circumnatances in xasessing whether it hes power over an lnvesize, including

+  The comractus] srrengememisp with the othey vote bolders of fhe inveshes
»  Rights arising froen otber contracthual armngements
+  The Gireap’s voting rights and posential veting rights

The Giroan re-aunesseq whathar or nod i comtrels an nvessee (T fces and elreumatances indicare that there ane changes
ty o @i enoce off the theee elements of contral. Cordelidstion of & subsidiary bagins when the Group obagins conrol
awer the ssbsidiory and ceases when the Group fses costrol of the subsidiary. Assets, Habdlities, (neome and expenses
af'a subsidiary sequired of dispesed of dodng the vear are included in the consolidated Hnanciol stasements fror the
date the Crodp gains ool nill the date the Cnowp cemes 10 contiol the sebsidiory,

Prafit or loss and ench comporest of OC] are attribated to the equity holdes of the Parent Compomy snd to 1he nos-
controllmg intesests, even i this resulis iz the nop-controllEng ivterests hoving & deficit abancs, When necessary,
aclustweis are mede 00 the financial matenents of subsidiores i brmg sheir sccnenting, policies in lae with the

Grop’s soceunding palicies. Al indra- group assets and labilities, squiy, income, expenses and cass fows relatiag o
irans@eions pstwesn members of the Group are elimiated in full en consolidation, & chamge in the pwrership insreit
of o subsidiary, without o hoss of control, is aecounted for ms an equity transaction,

I the Giroup loses contral gver o auhsiibeny, | d-:n::uguimn the relued aseers (lrciuding moccwill), linklivhes, nos-
contrillimg rteres and mhee companents of cquity, while any eesultanl g o loss 18 recognesed i peof or s
Any bevestmsnn retalned {8 recopnised ot fale valoe.
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

—— T e

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the vear ended 31 December 2019

1 RASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES {continued)
14 EIGNIFICANT ACODUNTING POLICIES {centinued)

Business combinaticns

Business combinations are accounted for using the scguisition method, The cost of an acquisition is measured a3 the
aggregeie of the consideration ironaferred, which is measured at acquisition dabe fair value, and the amaound of any
non-controlling interests in the acquives, For sach business combination, the Groap elects whether to measure the
nofn-consrolling nerests in the acquinss at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquirss's idengifiable net
mazeds Acqolsitioa-related costs sre expensed a3 ncurned and ineluded in adminissrative expenses.

When the Group acguires & business it assegses the financia! assets and Lishilities assumed for appropriace
classifeation ared designation B sccordapos with the contrsctual ferms, sconomic circumstances and pentinest
conditions as at the acquoisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host commacts by the
aCauires

Conflmgent considersfion, resulting from business combinations, = vahoed ot fair valee a the scquisiton dote.
Cantingent comsderation clasilied ns equity ia-nol remeasured snd s subsogoenl seitlement is socourtod for within
squity. Contingent consideration classified =5 an assel or Hability (bt s 8 financeal mstrumend aedd within the scope
afl IFRS 9 Fiamncial fnatrmments; is measured al Gir walue with the changes ie i value recognzed in the poofit or
lpss inaccordamce with [FRS 9. Qther contimgent conssdertion ket 15 oot within the scope of [IFRS 9 i measared at
fair vahue ai #ach reparting date with changes in fair valoe recogrised @ profit or loss:

Ginadwill is mitiadly messured a1 oot (heing the excess of the ageropaie of the consilerition 1mnsfzmed and b
amonnd recngrised for non-comtrolfing interessts and npy previoas imferest held ower the net identifiehle nssets noquired
urwl lighilities ssamed). I7 the fair salue of the pet sssets noquinad i io escess of the sgiregate considermtion
trenafered, the Group re-assepses whether it has corrcelly ldentificl all of the nasets aequisal and sl of the (Babilities
assumed and reviews the procedunes used o messure the amonnds G be recognised at il aequisition dave. I the
neassessaeit S1ll Fesults in-an excess of the feir valie of oo essts scquined over e aggregale comsidersion
transfered, then the gale b8 recapnlsed in profit o liss

Wherne goodwill hos been allocaled 10 8 cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the opermim within thel unit is
disposed of the gondwill associaled with ihe disposed apemtion it includsd in the carrying smound of the eperatian
when desermining the goin or less on disposal, Goadwill (isposed in these circumstanees B measursd hased on the
redative values of the disposed operation and the postion of the cesh-genermting unit retained,

A gontingant Dability redognised i & bosiness combinstion is initially messered af s fair valos. Subsequently, i s
mensurod ot tha higher off e ankoum that weald be reeagrised s nooardsscs with the regumerments for provisions in
1A% 37 Frovisipes, Coefiagen Liabiiier amd Comtingent doeete of (e armoant inthially recopmised less (when
nppropriafe) cumulative omaortisation recognsed i eodardance with the reguirements for revenise rocognition.

Furnitre and egqulpment

Furniture and oquipment ane stated 2t cost bess accumulsted depreciation and impaisment in value. Depreciation is
coboulatsd wsing the 1i:rligh| lime o wrire doven the onat of Famdnere and cquipmn:m i theeir resedual] vahies aves their
estimnate uselol lves as foflows

(Hfice equipment & compines 3 vesrs
Furnitiire & fxtares 5 years

An e of furniture and equipment are derecognized upon diaposal (Le., ot the date the reciphern obtaing costrol) or
wher no futdare econoinic benefits are cxpecied from s wse or disposal. Any galn or loss srising on derecognition off
the ass= {caboulaied as ke difference between the net disposa] procesds and the carrying amount of the assel) is
meladed in the slaterment of profit or Tess shen 1he 2ast i3 derecegnised

The residusé values, usehal |ives and mesheds of depreciation of furniters aed squipment ane reviewed ai each fimanciol
yair erad and odd|wined prospectively, I appropriase. Depreclmion of these assets commences when the nisess ape ready
foe their intended uze.

Barrowing ¢osts

Bormwing costs direeily aizriburahle o dhe acgulsivlon, construction of production of an sset thn mecessarily takss a
suibstantial period of tme w gel ready for Bs miended we o sale s copitalised as pant of the cost of e asset. All
othier borreeing costs are expenssd (v the perlod inowhich ey oceur. Bommowlng costs conslst ol imenest and other
cosls (et as entity incurs in connection with the bormowing of funds.
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1 BASIS OF PREFARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES [contlmsed)
1.4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (eontinued)

Imvestment properties

levestment properises are measured ioigally at cost, including tracsaction coss. Subsequsnt to mitial recogrition,
inwestmend propentics are stated ot fair value, which reflects masket conditions at the reparting date. Gains or losses
arising from changes in she fair vafues of investment properties are included m profit or loss in the peried in which
they arise, Fair values are determined based on an anrual valuatson perfosmed oy an sceredited sxbermai independent
waluer applying approprisic valuation models

Irvestment propertics ane derecopmized eitler when they have been disposed of (e, oi the date the reciplest obszins
comitral) or when they are permanentiy wilhdrawn from use and no Rutars sconomic benefil & expeded fom their
dizpuszl, The difference between the net disposal proceeds aod the camymng amoamt of the asset is recognised in profit
o les i the period off derecopnibon. The amourt af consdderation to e incbaded in the pain or kes arising Fom the
derecognition of investment propeny is determined in sccordsnce with the requiremenis for determining the
tramzactjon price in IFRS 13

Tramsfers are made fo (or fiona) investment property only when thers is a change innse, For a transfer from investment
property to pamer-necupied properiy, the deemed cost for subsequent accomnging is the fair yalpe as the deie of change
in s, IF cwner-mecigped property beconss an bwestmest propemy, the Growp secousts Por soeh property (n
aecopdance with the polkey stated under furnibare and equlpmest up to the date of changs in wse;

Interest In nvesimend in ussocinfes

An sscooiate 3 an entity ower which the Group has sigmificant inflwence. Significant influence i the power 1o
participate in the financisl and eperating pelicy decisions of the investee, bat is not contro] or joint chniral aver those
palicies.

I'he considerations made n determining significant influsnce or joint comtrol are simiar to those necessany 4o
determane control over subsidiarees,

The Group's evestment in ils sssoclate zre accounted for using the equity method. Undes the equity methaod, the
mvestmenl in an aisociase i imitially recognised atcost The camymg amount of the fvessmeni & asdjusted to rocognise
changes i the Group's share of nef assets of the associzte since the acquisition date, Gooadwill relating to the associale
is inchaded in the carrying nmoun| of the invesiment and 5 pot fested for impadrment sepambely,

The saterment of profii or loss reflects the Group®s share of the results of operations of the axsociate. Any change in
R0 of (hose Invesiees B presenied s pin of the Grosp®s GO In sddiiben, when there has been o change recognksed
dlirestly In the eqalty of the nssoctate, the Groep recosnizes Is share of any chargses, when applicakbe, In the aatement
of changes ineguily. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from iramsactioes beracoen the Group asd the sssociate se
elhiminated 3o the extent ol fhe interest in the awociale

The: nppresste of the: Grup's share of profit or less of an nasociate & shown oo be fee of the statemene of profit o
loss oertgide opemiing peofit ond represents prodit ar loss after taxy and non-comiralling. interesiz in the subsidiorics of
the asspciase

The fimancial statdanents of e ssosiate are prepannd e the sane reponting, pechml as e Oroup. When mocesssy,
adjustmens are made b bring the seomanting policies in [Eng with 1hese of the Group,

Adter appdication of the equity methad, the Group determines whether B i necesiary 1o recogrize @n impairment Joss
on s invesiment in #5 associabe, A1 cach rzpurling_ dee, the Gmoup determines whether therme is oﬂmivz evidence
lasn ibe invesimenl in e associes |s mpaired. B there (5 such evidenes, tbe Grows calculses the mmoust of
impasrment as che difference between the recoverable amoum of the sssociaie and e carving valoe, and then
repagnises Bre base as ' Sheny af profit of en ossociabe i Ue strement of profit or loss

Upaon loss of significent influesce over the associate, the Group measures ard recogniscs amy reteined investment sl
its fair vakue, Any difference batween the carrying amount of the asscciabe upan loss of significant infloence ar joint
congrod and the fair walue of the retaiped investment and procesds fram dispasal is recognised in profit o Inss.
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As ot and for the vear ended 31 December 2012

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (continmed)
14 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-fimancial assets

The Group assesses, wi ench reporiing date, whether there is un indication that an asset may be impamed, If any
indication exisls, or when annual impairmeni testing for an ssset is reguired, the Group estimaes the asset’s
recoverable smaumi. An asset’s recoverable amouet is the higher of an asset™s ar CGL s fair valoe less cosis of disposal
aed ils vakue in we, The reeovernble amount is determined for an individeal ssset, unless the asser does no generate
cash InfMloaws thal e larpely independent of rhose from otk s30eta or groups of asses, When the carryiag amoant of
am assel or COGL eneveds it recoverable emount, the sseet is conshdered Impaired aned i3 wiiiven down 1o 35 recovesabile
Al

In assessimg value in use, the estimsted fturs cash flows are discourtsd %o their present value osing & pre-fay digcoumt
rufe thal reflects currenl marked assessments of the fime valie of money amd he risks specific 1o the assst. In
determuining fwr value fess costs of disposal, recent market tmnsaciions are mken inio sccound. 35 mo such ranssciions
can b eneified, an approprise valuation model 5 wsed. These calewdations are corroboraied by valustion mubtkples,
gooted share prlecs for puldicly traded companies of other avallable falr valoe indicavors. The Groop bases s
impairment caleulativn on dosiled hedgers and lorecssr calenlatons, which sre prepored seporately for each of 1the
Cirouip's CGLE o which the individual assers are albocated. Thes: Budgels and (orecest enbeulssions genemlly cover 2
periad af five years. A long=term groeth rate is calcdlated and applied to project fisture cash fows after the fifth vear

For aszets exchuding geodwill, on asseszmant s made at =ach reporting dake to determine whether there is en indication
that prewiously rc-:mg.ntsu‘:d imnpairimenl bosses no bonger cxlst or bave decismed. I soch Indication exisds, the Group
estimnates the asser's or GO s recovernble amoant, A.]'ircwlmujy recognigzd inpaimaent |08 is revesed only [ fene
has been a change in the ssemptions tsed 1o determing 1he assel’s recoverable amount since the last impaimment loss
wibes eeogivisel. The revirsal ts Bmired so char e aarying amouan of Oz st does not esceed its recoverdbde dmium,
ner exceed the carryimg amownl the woeeld have been detemmined, e of depreciation, hed no bmpsdirment |oss been
recagnised for the ssset in peior years. Such reversal i r:i:ngmm.l in the simiement of profit o loss aniess the asset is
corried an a revalued smount, in which case, the reversal i seated a8 8 revabuation indoeass

Financinl instrumemts = imitial recognition and subsequent measarement
A fimancial imdtrument is any condract that gives rise to o financial asset af one entity and a financial linhility or equity
insirament of amother entiry.

il Finunclal atrefs

Inlial recognition and nitial meinremeni
Flnancial assess ane classifled, a1 nnkal ecognition, @5 sulsbquently measured sl amorted coal, fir vadue through
other comprebensive imcome (DL and Fir valee through prodit or loss.

The classifention of finoncial axsets af initizl recopgnition depends on the fisencial asset's comtractasl cash Bowe
charscieristics and ihe Group™s business model for managing them, With the exception of imde receivables thae do
nit comtabn o skenkficent financing component of for which the Grosap bas applicd the practical expedient, the Gaonp
mirially messune s foaocial asset s s fair value plas, in ke case of a Amancial sset ool 48 fir velee through prafic
ar loss, Emsaetion cost, Trade receivablss thas do wot comtain o sipndficam flnsmcing tomponedt or For which 1
Geronap has applied the practical expedient dre meaivned al the lmnssction price.

In arder for o Gnanceal nsset 10 be clissifed oad messured at amoctised cosi or i vahee shrough OCT, i needs 1o Riwve
rise bo cath s thet are ‘sclcly payments of principal and interest (3PP} on the prirtipninnu_um umg’nnding. This
assessment is referred ro ns the SPP 1essand is performsd atan ipsmament fevell Firancial assers with cash Mews thai
are not SPP| e classified and neessured at fair value throngh prafit or ks, derespectise of the basiness madel,

The Greap's busingss model for menaging Nnassial asets refers 10 bow B manages is Aeeecinl assels in onder to
gaverale cash flows, The bissiess model determimin whether cash flows will rasult from collesting conreciual cash
Ibows, smlling the financial axtels, or both, Fimancl assets clnsified and measmredd ot nomonised cosi se held within
i business mode] wilh the ohjective 1o bald fmencind assets in order to coflect oontractuml cash fows while fnancisl
azsets classified and measured ot fair walue through OCT are held within a businesa moded with the obgecive of both
halding to collecs contrachial cash flows and selling.

Purchmses or sakes of fimancial assets that require delbviry of assers within & thiss fimme estabiished by regulston v
corrverdion in the nseeket place {regular way trades) e secogns=ed an the trede date, e, the daie thet the Group
commits to purckade or sefl e Hsser
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M atand for the yvear ended 3| Desember 2019

F HASIS OF PREFPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (oo Tined
2.4 SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (enntinued)

Financlal instramenis — inlikal recoguition and subseguent measprement (zontineed)
b Finamcial wsvets feontinued)

Subsequent meassrement
For [l n-l'mtur.'qucnl mensnrement, financial astets are clnsgified in qu'r-mlegwlu.

v Finanelal sssess af amorised ecst (debe rsbraments)

v Financhl asieis an fabe value (hrough OCH with iecyeling of camalative gains and losses {dsbe instruments)

v Financlal zseess designated a8 fabr wilue through OO swdib no reeyeling of camalative gaing and |osses upon
derecognitisn {equily lsirumeniz)

¢ Fhncial sssets 2t faic valoe throagh prodit or lossa

i) Fimoschal auely of omarived cost (dedi feavirnmerin)
Finameial assets ot smortised sost sre subsequently mensined wsing the effecive imarest (EIR) method and are suhject
1o Inpairment. Galss and bosses are recognised in prodior lees when the assen is derecognised, modified or impaired.

b Fimowctal aves of i velue theoigl OCT (el tasrraimsenis)

Fuwr et ssrumments al Fair value (hrawgly QCL, intesest income, forspn exclinpe revalunlion and bmpalmeeat leasss
op reversals are recognised in the statement of pralitar loss and companed is tha same mooner os for Inonci] asaes
mssured ol wmorised cost The rermvining Geir valie chasges are recognised in OCL Upon derecogrition, e
wcurriubstivee foir vabee choege recognised in OCT s recycled to profit or koss

o Fimmncinl avsets desigmated af fulr vabie through OCH fequiy dnstramenig)

Upan inirial necogsition, the Growp ein elegt bo classily mevocably &5 equity investments ag equity inssrumenis
desipresied o Tair valug hrsugh O30 whicn ey neest the detlnition of squity under LAS 31 Firamelsl Dt m,
Persemtmtion ond aro mot hald foo roding. The slassification (s desesmined on am baavrament-by-inssrument Basis

CGaing and loeses on fhese fnencial sssets ame rever recyeled to prafit or bes. Dividends are recagnised 2 atler ineome
in the stabzment af profit or lass when the rght of payment bas been established, excent whes the Ceoup henefits from
stk pm.:r.f.ds as m recoveny of part of the cosz of the finarcial asset, in which case, suck gains are recorded in OCI.
Eruiny instroments deskgnated ot fal value through OC are ot subject o impairment assestment,

The Giroup elected 1o classlfy inrevoeably cortain equity investmsnts under this calsgary.

) Firancral aarefs af fivie velfue fivough profs o oo y
Financind rescts gt fnir volue theeagh prafit or loss ane curied in the simement of Bnancial positicn at fair value with
net chengss in fair vabee recognised in the statsrvent af profit or ks,

DerecazEiinian
A Mnenci) west (o, where upplicsble, o port of & finaneiol asset or pa of o group of similar financil cises) s
promazily derscognised (e, romoved fram the Group's cossolidated seeinent of finnncial position) wisen:

The rigifs e recaive cazh Mows from The agsel ave expicad; o

The Gircup hay transferred s righis 1o receive cash Mows from e esse? or s assumed an obligztion o pay 3o
revedved cach fpam in fall withoos moterind deloy eo o fhind party under 3 “poss-through' ormmpement; and either
(&} the Group has transferred sudstantinlly all the risks ond rewands of the asset, or (B) the Group bas peither
wrafshessed nor seisined sihetant (aly 21l the fsks and rewsnds of the psset. bun has sransfermed comrol of the asset

When ihe Oroup hes transferecd s righls b reeebve ceh Dows foom i sl or bas enlorsd inld a pass-thrugh
srmngement, it evahseies i and o what extes, 7 has rotinsd e disks smid rewand ol ewneship, Wi it b sither
trunsitrred par retained sebstntindly all of the risks and rewarnds of the e, nor transferred control of the asset, the
Gmup cantinues to rl:mgni—;: the trimgfemed exset to the extent of il coalinoing, imvehemenl. In that czee, the Croup
also recognises an meociated Hnilicy, The marsferred wset and he associated lisbility are measured on a hasks that
refiects ik righs end ehlancions that the Giroop hes resdeed,

Contisuiny, inveivernent that takes ihe forn of & Suaraciee over e mansfenncd sser is measoned a1 the lower of e
vergionl currying noent of e asset s the mdamin smacmt of considemtion Mt e Group could be reguined o

nepy
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] BASIS OF FREFARATION ANMD SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)
14 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLKCTES (cortinged)

Fimamcial mstruments — initisl recognition and subsegueni meassrement (oostineed

il Finawciol Habilitie

Initial reeognition and messueremeni
The Giroup®s financisl liakilites inchide 1awsemeg payables, amouns dos o related partses aml sceoums payable and
accruals.

All fameial Tabilities are recopnised Initially al fabr value and, noibe case of tawarruy payables =nd secount payahles,
mef oof directly stiribisiable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
Fur purpozes of subsequent messurement, financizl lakilites are classified in two categories:

#  Financial [Egbilities st fabr valug throagh poosfit or kas
= Financial lksbilitics ai amortised cost (intluding mwanmug payables)

The Group has ot destenaved any financial lisbility 2z a2 feir wabue through profil or loss 25 Anancizl [iabilities at
amvartised cogt is more relevart to the Crroug.

Finmnehal Nabilities af amarnised cost

Timerarrieg papwiadiies

Tawarrug pavables represent amounts payable on 3 deferred setilement hashs for assels porchawd under wanmnmg
arrangements. Tawarrug payables see sinted a0 the conbrscival st peyable, less deferred peolit payable. Profit
payable 15 sxpemed op g fme apportionment besis aking secount of ths profil mis abnbutabd and the balancs
oyisianding.

Accounts payrile and acerualy

Aooounis payable and accruals nre recogaised for smounts o be peid in the figure for servioes received, wheiber billed
by the supplier or not,

Derecugnition
A Dinancial Habiliy Is derecognised wlen ibs obligstion unsder the liabdlity ls decharped or cancelled or expires.

When an exisiing Anancial liability ls replaced by anaiber from the same lender on substsntially dilferent ierms,or the
fermm of am exkting lshility sre ssbstantiolly modified, such an exchangs or modificstion is dreated nx  the
derecognition of the vriginal [Eability and the recognition of o new |Rhility. The difference in the respective camying
amcnirds [ recapgnised B ithe clalement of profi on loss

Wy Ofsening of firamcial leifewmends

Finarcial assets and fnascial liablities are oiTser ard ihe net smounl b5 reporied inothe comsolndsied staement of
Anamcial puition if there is 8 currently enforccabde Tegal tight o offsel the recognissd amueunis and there i3 2m
intention to settle an & nel hasis, o realise the assets and seple the lieshilitics simullzmeausly,

Impairment of fimancial nesets
Equity imwestments are rat siehjsct to ECLs. Forber, the Group has ne debt isvestments messured &t PO,

The Growp recognises am allowance for expected credin losses (ECLs) for all debn instromenis nat held ot fair wmbue
theoagh prodfic ar bogs. ECLs arg based on the difference berween the conracraal cesh flows dise @ aceordames with
the contesct amd all the cash flows that the Groug expects o recsive, discounted 21 an appraximation of the original
effective Intereat rate, The expeted cash floas will Imclude cash flows from the salle of collatesal leld or orher crdi
evthancements that sre integral 1o the comracnial tarmsa.

EC1.% are recognised m two stapes. For credst exposures foe which there has not been a significant incrense in cradit
risk Since mitiad recognition, ECLs are prowvided For onedit |oases that resull firom defaalt events thad are possibie within
the next [2-momths (a 12-month ECLY, For those cred® exposares for which there has b2en a significant increass in
credit risk simce initinl recognition, a boss allowance s required For credit logses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, Irrespective af the timing of the defaul Ca lifecime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A at anad for the vear ended 31 December 2010

2 BASIS OF PFREPARATION ANDSIGHMIFICANT ACCOUNTING PFOLICIES (contimued)
14 SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued )

Impakrment of Mnaeelal sssets (continued)

For wade and ciher receivalles, the Growp applies a simplified approach i cabiculating ECLs. Therefane, the Group
diae= ol track changes in credil rek, but instead recognises a loss albowance based an ffetime ECLs al each reporting
dane, The Giroup has ssiehlished a provision matris that is based on i3 historical credid loss sxperiends, adanesd for
foraard-lnnking faciors specific 1o the debiors and the ecomamic environment,

The Growp considers a financinl asszt in defoult when coptracmal paymeents are 90 days past dee. However, in centaln
euscs, the Uiroup may alss eonsbder o faancial asser to ke b defaule when internal or external informstion indicates
thiat the Giroup B oumlikely to recebve the ouistnndipg coatroctual amounds in full before taking info account any eredit
enhancenents haid by the Groap. A financial asset is writen off when thers is no reasonable expeciation of recovering
the contrachaal cash flows.

For hark, balsnces, frade receivables and other receivebles, the Group has applied the smplified approdch and has
colculmed ECLs based on lifetime expected credil losses. The Group has established a provision madrix (bt i based
o ihe Group's Bistesical credit loas sxperience, adjnsted for forword-tooking factors specific to the halances and the
Ciroaip's sooibaifle svinanmene.

The imanegement oonsiders a fisancial gaee o detal when the eontraciual payments are %) days past due, However,
in certein cases, the manzgement may also consider & lnancal assel fo be o defsult when stermal or eaternal
informaetson indicates that the Group is anlikely 1o recsive the oulstanding contraciual smours in full,

Carrant vorsus non-curvent classilcation
T Cryovap presents assets and Hahilites in the statement o financial position based an current'non-clrrent classificalion.
An aseel 18 current when il is:

Expecied o be realizad oo intended 1o be sold ar consemed [ the mormeal cpersting cvele;

Held primarily for ike puspose of trading:

Expecied to ba ranlised within twelve months alter the reporting period, or

Cash or cash squivalent unless restricted From being excharged or used 1o setfe 1 Nability for a1 beast roelve
memshs after the reparting periad.

yFvY¥ vew

Al pther stsers s claasified ap son-curren
A linbality & currenl whan:

It is expected ta be seitled in the normal operating cydle;

b is held primmarnily for the purpase of ading:

It is due g be settled within twelve months after the reporiing poricd; ar

Thers is nounconditional right to dzfer the setibzment of the finbility Tor ot least twelve months after the reporting
[l

The Company classifies all other Hahilities as aon-currenl

L S . L

Fair value measuremeni

Fair value jo thee peace thal would be received to sell an ssset or paed in tmesfer a3 fability in an orderly transaction
between ket participnnts a1 the measurement dale. The fir volue meosurement is based on the :prul.u'npduh thia
thie tremeaution li sl the assor or cransler che lalilmy mbkes ploce sither:

e In the principal market for the assel or linbility, or
¢ Inthe ahsence of a principal market, in the most sdvamageous miskel lor the st or lihilicy

The principal or the mast advaniazeaus markel must be socessable by the Cirowp.

The far value of an nsset or a lisbility i= messured using the sssumpdions thet market participanis waould use when
pricing the assetor Hstdling, sssaning thar marke panicipanes ect jn ibeir seonomic hess imterest,

A Dair vabue megdurement o a non-Nnandiol Esel tles e accoamt 8 markes pﬁlllutﬂul’a alilliy v genernte ecoromic
bemefiis by ising ihe assed moils highest and best use or by selling 0w asabe markel paricipan thal weuld ose the
axeed in its heghest and besl use
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2 BASIS OF PREFARATION AND SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continmed)
14 SICHIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Fair value messnresent (continied)

The Groop gwe2 walugtion sechidgquees that sre spproprisie o the clreemstanees ond for which sufficlent Ssn are
avalishle 1o measure fale vabee, mmsimisiig the wse of relevasl obsarvabils npats and minEnising the use of
unchservabbs impuis.

Al mssets and lishilities for which fir value is messwned or discinsed in the fimamcial siatemenis ore colegorised wilhin
the fair value hierrchy, described 25 fallows, hased on the. lowest bevel input that is significast o the fair wbse
IMCBENETICRT &5 B Wi

v Level 1 - Cucfed {unadjusted) markes prices in active merkets for ideniical nssets o (lnbilities

# Level 2 - Valuation eschmiques for which the bwest level inpue that s significant to te fair vahie measurement is
directly ar indirsetly olaervable

#  Level 3 - Valuarion teckmiques for which the kewest bevel ingut thes is significant w tee fxir vale measurement is
unohiervahle

For axseis smd Fzhilies that ane recognsed m the financial statemests &l fatr valie on a recurring, basis, the Group
determings whether sransfers have ocoured between lavels in the hierarchy by re-nssessing entegorisation {based on
the loewest leved ingut that 5 significant fo the fasr value messurement as a whols] at the end of each reporting period.

Invesimen| deposits
Imvestment deposits represent deposits with banks wisich are due after three momths from the placement dabe ard eam
prodit,

Emploviees end of service benefits

The Grosp provides end of service benefits to its empbayess, The entitlement 1o thess berefits is based upaon the
oees” final salary and length of service, aubject % e complation of @ minimam fervice period in accandance

with relevant bsbour law and tee employess’ coniracts. The expecied coty of these bemefiiz are stonoed over the

perind of employment, This liobility, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employes o o result

of termination an the repurting dats

In midilition, with respect W its Kuwaiti national emphoyees, the Group makes contribstions o the Public Institution
fiw Soclal Seewrlty calculmed 82 & perocntage of the employees” salaries, Thess contrabations sre expersed whsen doe.

Provissons

Previsicns are recogniésd when the Gronp has n peesent ohligation (egal or consruetive) as a resuli of o pest svent,
it 15 profnble thet an sallow of resources enfoodying ecoromic benefits will be required to seitle the obdigativm and
o reliokdz estimole cas he made of e amsounl of the ohligation.

Itk effect of the time value of mosey B mnlerial, provisions are discounted using s current pre-tax ruie that reflects,
wiven approprate, the risks specific to the |bidiny, When discounting (s used, the increase m the prasision due bo the
pazsagge of ime B rocosnked a8 & firnce ves),

Treasury shares

The Group's awn sheres ae acooanled for Ak tremiory shases and ard staled ol cosl. When the ireasary shires ane sold,
uzing are credied boa separale socounl in equily (Enesiry shares neerve) which is mon-distrebotable, Any realised
kosses are charged to the smame account 1o the extent of the credil halonce on that accoumt, Any excess |osies ane
charged to retzined eamings then reservés, Gaing realisml subsecuently vn the sabs of treasury shares are first wsed to
offset mny previonsly recopded losses in the osder of reserves, retained earmdngs aod the treasury shares reserse secoumt.
Mo gash dividends are disrihused on ihese shares and e woring mghis relaied 1o these shares sre discarded. The issue
of barms shires increases the nuinber of inEmiicy shiares propartionataly amd redeces the average ool per share withoar
affisciimg the tofal cost of reasury sharms.

Enrmings per share (EPS)
Basic EPS smounts are calculaied by dividing the profic for the year atiributesble o ondinery equity boklers of the
Parent Compony by the weighied averags namber of ondinary shares msstandieg during the vear

Mled EPS aitants ant coleulsted by dividing the prof aribushle 1o ordingry eqeity holders of the Parent
Cawenparyy (elher sdjusting for interest on the convenihle preference shiorss) by the welghied sverage number of
pedimary shures autstinding dusing the year plus the weighted mverage numbaer ol ardindry shines that would be tsused
o conversion of afl the diluive potentisl cndivsry sfares into ardinare shares.
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1 BASIS OF FREFPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTIMG POLICIES (continued)
24 SICNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {contimued)

Dividends
Ingame from dividends s recogmisad when the right be receive payment is established,

Dividend distribution ‘ )

The Croup recopnises a Hability 1o pay & dividend when the distribution 5 no Toeger ot the discretion of the: Graugp.
A per the compandes law, a disirbution lx oulborised when it is approved by fhe Sharcholders o the anmind geseral
assembly. A corresponding amound (s reeeenésed directly in equity. Dividends for the yer thot sre approved after the
napoting date are disclosad nyae evanlalter the reparting dage

Taxation

Kuwail Fowndavion for the Advameament of Solences (KFAT)

The comirtbution 0 KFAS {5 caloulazed mt | %6 of the pofil (oo te year aliribotable t the Parenl Codnpiny. @
agcardaee with the modified ealewlntion basod on the Feundming's Beard of Diregtors” resobation, which states thas
incame froe associabes and subsidiacies, Reard of Directors” remunoration, transfer o stefutary reserve shoald be
excluted from profil for the year whin detsmimisg the o isatlon

Nariower! Lobawe Suppor Tax (WEST)
HLST is caleulmed ot X.5% of the profi Tor the yunr ntiributabls (o ibe Paraat Company in necordanse with Law MNa,
190 2000 and the Minisery of Finasce resohations Mo, 24 of 2006,

Lakee
Caontritsnion 1 Zakan is calidaed o 1% of the profi for the y=ar oierbaisble o Parent Company i accordance with
the Minisiry of Ficams rosslition Mo, 82007 effeerive fram 10 Deceraher 2067,

Revenue recognitkon
Kewenue is recognised eicher ot 2 poon n fume or owver time, when {or 23) (he Qroup ssisfies performance ehligalkmas
by ronsfering the promisod poods or services bo ME custom e,

Mevtal tnoome
The Growp enms mevenue fram actimg a5 & lessor m aperating, lefdes which da mot tranafer sabatantially all of the riks
end rewards incidestal to owsership of an investment propeeTy.

Realul lsoniie arsimg from operating leates on iavestent property is accountsd for on o straighl-line basis over the
lease t=rmt and iz included inrevenuoe in the consolidsted statemern of profit or luss due bo §ls operacing natore, except
for eoniingon rental icome wiilch is poognised wiisn ® anses

Galn or Joss arisig ow disparal of neestanans

Gaim or bpss arising on dispodal of investnents & caboufared a3 the difference between the net disposal procesds amd
the cerryving amoust of the invesinents ond included in the consolidated statemend of profit or loss, in the year n
whdicl the investment s digeiged ain ur oss on disposal of Evestmonss is recognised whaon the significont riske and
rewnrnds of nemership af the investmems kave passed 16 the buysr

Income from ioyesiment doposits
[iipcanie froan [ivvestiment deposits is recoprized o o time propomteonabe basis.

Finapce costs

Finanoe cose ars cabealsed nnad recogrised on atims propartconme kasss king o account the principal firemce balne
atstaaiding, end the cost rate spplicable. Firance cosls thal e directly attribaiable to the sconisition and constragtisn of
nn sset hat necesserily mkes o sshsndinf period of tire 1o get ready for it sienbed e o sale, ore sapitalsed a5 pan
o the cost of tha wsel Capital=aion of financing cost ceases when substantially 2l the prfivitics necesanry to prepan
(e asses for its interded use or sake are complete, Csher finance costs are recognised as 2n expense in the peried in which
They e incunmed,

Fraredgn currencles

Thez Cionp's consilidated francmal statements ae prnrnhd in KD, wheeh 15 afso the Parent fltl.l'niﬂl‘l;"! Ty |
currency. For gach entity, the Greup deignmines e Fncticsal curmncy and ibems meluded m the Toancial scatements
of sach entimy are mensured using that fanctiomal comency. The Groap nses e dicect method of comsolidation &l on
dispoal of o Toezign aperation, the goin of loae that i@ reclagsified lo profit or kes eflects the amount thad wrizes Froen
using this methssd
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3 BASIS OF PREFARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (tontinwed)
24 SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continmued)

Foreign currencies {continsed)

Troasaciions ond haelaacer

Trnssctians in fareign curremcies are mitially recorded by the Growp's enlilies at their respective funcional camency
spod rabes ab ihe duie the tmnsaction first ganlifies for recognition.

Somerary asseis and labilties depomirared o forelgn currencies are rranslanad a0 the fanciionad curroney spol mes
of exchange at ihe reporting date. DifTerences ariaing on ceribement or fraeslation of mongrary lhems are recognlsed in
prdil o

Maremonelary - flems- thel are measured it serms of kstorical 0% in o foreign currency are translsfed ming the
exchange rates al the dates of the mitinl transeciions. MNaon=mnmstary items measured at fair vahae in e foreign cunrency
are tromsiaied using the exchasge mbes at the date when Ehe fair volee is deermined, The gain or |oss nrisi_n; N
trinsditfon of nos-nwonetary Ikems measured at fair vohes B treated in Hiee with the recogmition of the gain or koss on
the change m falr value of the iten (ie., cramslation differences oo rems whoss filr value galn oF loas is recopgnized n
O ar profdic o loss ane sho recogsised n OC1 o profit or loss, respectivelys

roup compamiey

Om considation, the assets and liabilities of foretgn operations =e ranslated mto KDY a1 the mbe of exchange
prevailing at the réparting date and thear stabernents of profil or knss are translaled ot exchange rates prevailing af the
dates of the mansacikons, The exchange differences arising on translation for conselidagion are recogaised in OCL On
disposal of & foreign operation, the component of OO releting to that particular foreign operation is reclassified in
prafin or loss

Contingencies
Cuntingenl lizhilities are nod recognised in ibe consalidased fnandial satemems. They ore disclossd unless ibe
paossibility of an outfkow of resources embodying economic bemefits & remote.

Contingend assels are et recognised @ the consolidated financial stotemests but dclased when on infiow of
econaric benefits is probable.

Segmental information

A segment k& a disinguishable component of the Group thar i engaged either in providing producls o services
(biminess seement), of fn providing products asd services within a particular economas enviroamend (gecgraphic
sepenent), which 1s subject 1o ridks and rewards that are different from those of other sepments. The Group preseis
the segmental information Based on its business segments and grographical locatices of its operniions,

Lesses (Paoliey applieatle before | Jannary 009}

The detesmination of whether an arrangement s (or comtaing} a feass is based on the substunce of the armngement ot
il incapabon of the leage. The arrangemend &, or containg, o bease [f fulfiiment of the arrangemeni = dependend on the
s of & specific aseel or sssers-and (ke arranigeamend conveys 8 feiil o usetke atsel (or astes), even if thal &ssd (or
ilvoze asseta) s mol cxpliciily specificd in an errangeenen,

rreusp a8 o fesser
A bense s clossified at the incepdian date as a finance lease or an operating [sase. A leass thes transfers sobssansinlly
all the risks amd rewands incidental o ovwnership 6o the Groep e classfied a5 a finance |sase.

Finaee lgases are capitalied a the commencament of the lease af the meeption date fair valoe of ibe lopsed propemy
ar, il hewer, a8 the presenit value of the mmbmam lexe payments. Lease payments are epporioned betwees finance
cherges and reduction of the lease Fiabiliy soas 1o achieve a constant rate of inerest on the remaininy balance of the
lizhility, Finance charges are recognised in fisance cosis in the sssiement of profit or loss

A lensed meser is depreciansd cver the wvefil life of the asset, However, if there By no reasonabile esnainty that the
Group will ohiam ownership by dhe emd of the kase term, the nsset s depreciated over the shonmer of the estimated
wseiul fiffe of the asses and the lenss serm.

An operating lesse = o bease other han @ Mnarsce lease, Operatlng |ease payments are recognised as an opersing
expinse in the stsement of profit or loss on a straighi-line bagis aver the lease wrm
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i BASLS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (eantimuwed)
1.4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Pulicy applicable before | January 2009 {cuntinued)

{rroup as @ fessor

Leases in which the Group dees not tmnsier substamially all the rsks and mewsnds of ownership of an s s
clussified ns operuting beases. Renll income arising is accoumled Far on a sistight-fme bass over the Jeases kerms and
5 incloded in revense in the sisement of profit or boss dee fo its operating nature. Initin] direct costs incarmal in
megodlating and erramging &n operabing lease are added fothe camying amourt of the lensed nssef nnd recognisel nves
the lease term on the same basis as nenlald inceane. Constingent meots ane recognised &8 mewemie n the porled n which
they s eamed.

Lenses (Folicy npplicable as of 1 January 2009

The Growp ebacied 1o use the mansizion proctice] expedient aflowing the standand 1o be epplied ondy to contracts 1k
were previcnsly idendfied as beases applying 1AS 17 end IFRIC 4 ut the dwe of initiasl application. The Group alsa
élecicd oo use che recognition enemiptiom for lenss contracts that, s the commencemend date, have = lense ferm of F2
moalhs of 135 and da not contain & purchass option {shor-term leases”), ond lease comracts for which the smderfying
assel is of low valuy (“low-value assela”),

CGerowp o @ fevses

The Group applies 2 single recognition and mensurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
beases of low-valws mssets. The Group recogmises leise labilites jo mske knse payvipenis and right-of-ee jass
repreaenting the right o wse thi: underlying assets.

[1] Fighi-ci e aavels

The Group recognises right-o Fuse assets ar the commencement dane of the lease {1e., the date the underbying asset is
wvailably fie wse), Right-of-use sasots are mneasuned 40e08, |e2s any nocarbaed -aa:pmmtlun and irspaiment loases,
uned peljusted for any remensurement of lesse liahilitics. The oost off nght-pfuse astetd moludes the amaunt of k2ase
linbilities recognised, initial direct eosts mcurred, and |ease peyments mode al or before the consmeencement dabe les
any bease Incentives recelved,

Rishi-of-use asscis are depreciaied oo o sreight-line basis cver the shorter of the lesse tzrm enid the estimated wseful
Hiwes oof the ases,

IFownership of the leased aaset irasfos ti the Grougs st the ewd of the tease term or the cost reflects the exencise ofa
purchase optian, deprecintion is exloulstod using the estimated usefl 1kl ol the i,

The right-of-use avses sre also subject to impairment. Relier to the secounting policies: < Imprirment of mon-financinf
as5Es,

i Lese Habifiiiey

A4 the commesmsemel date of the lsass, ths Group eeegnies lerse labilives measured w ik presem value of lease
pavmenls T be made over the lease teom, The Beise payments include foed payments (iocludiog, ip-substance Foed
pevmienis] less any lesse moentives recedvable, variable e payimant thel Gepend on anindes or o rate, and arouns
capecied 1o be paid under residunl value guarantess, The lease payments abso include {be exercise price of a purchise
npl'u,un ressmably certain i be exercized by the Grnesp and poyments of penalties for I:n:nilmLing_ the |ease, ifthe kase
e et the Groap exercising the option fn igrminsde,

Variable lease payments that do nst depend an an index or & mile are recognlsed as experces (unless they s meuned
o produce mveniories} in b period o which the event or cosdition that (riggers the payment ocurs. In calcalating
the present value of lease payments, the Groep uses ils incremenlal barrowing rate at the lemse commancement dan:
beecmaase the imiierest malz Ernpli-r.-'ir im the l=ase is ot resdsly determinable. After the commencoment dase, the armount
ol bemse linbiligies |s Incrensed to relbect the accretion ol mberest and reduced forthe eme payments made. Inaddhion,
the carrying amoant of beise Bebflivies is remeasured if there is & modification, a chimge in the lesse term, o changs in
the lense payments (&g, changes to Fukare payments resulting from o change in an index or rale used to determine
such lesse puymints) or 8 change @ the Gssessment of ap opsion o purchase ihe underlyving asss1.
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2 BASES OF PREPARATION AND SIGHNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.4 SIGNIFICANT ADCDUNTING POLICIES (cantinsed)
Leases {Policy applicabde as of | Jamwary 200 %) {costinued)

fi] Shori-lerm leoses ard learer of fow-value Gsers

The Geoup applies the shori-term l=ase recognition exemgison b its shori-term leases (i.e., those lenses that have &
lense term of |2 moniks or less from the commencement dale sad  do eot comnim o purchese option), i also apples
that lease of low-valie assels recognition exempibon io leases of affice enispenent thit are considered 1o be low valee.
Lesae payments on shor-ferm Beases and beases of bow-value sssets are recognised as expense on a stralght-fine basis
owier the lemso lom.

Trraurm o o fessor

Leascs in which the Group does nel wransfer substastinlly all the risks and rewards incidemal 10 ewnerslap of an asse
are classified as operating leases, Kental inoome arising is sceounied fr on o sEraighil-line basis over the |eise iems
mref i ineluded in revenose in the ststement of profit or loss diss 1o its operaling nature, Initinl direct costs incurred in
negodiating and urranging an operating lease are added fo the carying amaunt of the leased axset and recognised over
the lease ferm on the same basis as rentall income. Comtingent renis ars recognised &5 revemue in the pericd @ whick
thay-are samed.

15 SIGHIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group's conselidated financial sistements reqeires management to make judements, estimates
ard assumptions that affect the reporied amaunis of reveraies, expenses, oueets and |iabilities, and the sccampaniing
disclosures, and the disclosure of comtimgent Liabilities, Uncennimy about thess agsumptions and egimates could result
in cutcomess that require & material sdjusiment 1o the carrying amcnmi ol esets or liabdlites affecied in foture periods.

Judgemenis

1z the process of applving the Groop's mecounting policies, management hag made the folblowing pudgamenss, ajpmn
frosem those involving esimmations, whish have the most signi Boam effiect in the amounts resognized in the consaliduted
financial statements:

Classffloation aj Faay exiale properties

Lietermining the classification of a property depends an particalar circumsiances and menagement's nfensions-
Progrerty that is helif for resale in the andinary course of business o that in the precess of development for such sals
is elnssified as invectory, Propeay held to earn rental income or for capitnl appreciarion, ar bath b ckssified as
Envestment property. Propeny held for wse i the production or supely of peods sed services or for sdininistrative
purpases i classifiod as property ond equipment.

Classifcution af fTawrcinl assets

The Group determines the classification of financial assets based an the assessment of the husiness mods] within
which the assets wre held and essesiment of whether the contractual ierms af the financial assed are solely payments
af principal asd ierest on the priccipal amsoont outstanding,

Dietaranfiring thee foase ferm of canfeacts witk reaewal ond feominaiien opitons — Geowp ax fesiee

I'he Growp detertnines the: lenss term 25 the non-canceliabie term of the lexse, togeiber with any perinds covered by
an option 1o extend the leave iFi i rensonably certain 1o be eseresel, o any periods coversd By an option 1o werminans
the bease, if it is reasonabdy cernin wot (o be exercised,

The Groap has the aption, usder seme of 18 leases to bease the asters for addihonat verms. The Groap spplies
Judgement in evaluatng whether it is reasceably ceradn 1o exerciss the option 1o rensw, Thet is, it considers all
relevant Factors that oreste nn economic incentive for it o eXercise either 18 renewal or ftermination. &fer the
communsemen duce, il Growp reasiesses ihe lease term i there |5 4 sigaificas evesi or change in ¢lresmmsences tha
is within its congrol and afizcis its shility to exercise {or not So exencese] the option 10 renew (2.8, & change i husiness
strategy).

The Cinsip included the renewal pericd fs pan of the laase term due il significancs of these a55e03 bo its operatinas.
Thuse besses have o shoet non-canoelbsble period and there will be & skgnificant negative effect on operanions If o
riplacemenl s ol resdily available
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F 3 BEASIS OF FPREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (continuedy

r SIGHIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (contlnaedy

dudgemenes (eonTined)

Taxd

Uncertaingies exian with respect o the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in o laws, and ke amsound
and timing af fulure s Given the rnge of mermational business relationghips and the lomg-term rature and
complexity of existing contractun] apresments. differences arising bebween the octoal results and the assemplions
made, or furure changes to such assumpdions, could necesstate fishare: adjustments to fmxable income and expenses
already recerded, The Growp esmblishes provisions, based on reasonable estmaies, for possible conseguences of
sudita by the tax authorities of the respective coumtrees in which it operates. The armouni of suck provialons |s based
on varlous factors, such as experience of peevious tax sudits and differing imiprpeecasions of tax regultions by the
taxahle enlity s the responsible tax authodly, Sweh differences in [nlerpretubon may snise for & wide vasiety of
issues depending on the conditions prevailing in ke respective Group campanies” damicile.

Estimates prd assumptions

The key aseamptions concerming the futurs and other key sources of estimation uncenainty at the reperting dnts, that
have a sipnifecani risk of csusing & material adjustment fo the camying amounts of assets and liabilities within the neal
linancial yesr, are aléo described in the individanl potes of the related (nascial satement [ine ems bebow, The Oroug
hassd jg3 assumptions and estimees on parameters avallshle whes the comsolidsted fisenclal sisements wors
prepaned. Exiling circumstances and msinmplions sbeal future developroeals, however, may chinge due o marke
changes or cirumsances arising that mre beyond the control of the Groap. Soch changes are reflecied o fhe
essumplinns when ey oocar,

Trupaineeirs of axeoclites

Irvestment n ssoociales are popounted For under the equily method of scooumting for associates, wherehy thess
invesrmenis ane indtlally stobed at cost, and sre adjusted thersafer for the p:nu—uqu'rshi-:m chanpe in the Groan's shars
ol the met asels ol the sssocste less e irnpairment logses, The Group i reduired 10 sisesy, 1 @ch neporting date,
whether there are indicatioes of mrpairment 1 such Indications exist, the menagement estimates the recoveralble
smour of the szociabe in onder 1 determine the extent of the impairment koess (i myl The identificalion of
impaarment indicniors and detsrmimation of ibe recoverable amounks requeire manngement i make sgnificant
_ilh:lg,emznts. eabimstes and assumgbions.

Tmpaionreni aof flvowelel aceety af omeriised cosl

The Growp sssesaes an 8 forward locking basis the expected credin [osses (ECL) assosiated with e debt instmmseats
carried @ amortsed cost. For drade recelvables nisd conorascy sssets, the Grovp applies a simpliflod approach @
cnicuiating ECL Thensfone, the Groap does not track changes in-credie rigk, bur instead recognises o bais albowanos
based on lifslime ECL &1 sach reportng date, The Group has establisbed a provision matrix that is based an s
historical credit los experience, odjusied for forward-locking foctors specific to the debenrs amd the economic
erpviranment, Actual resales may differ from these estimates.

Fafumiom of meestureni praperties
The f@ir walue of invesiment Frl:-'pﬂﬁes is determined by real esime valustion SEperts using recognised
villumtion wechniques and the principles of IFRS 13 Fair Falue Mearwreman,

Ievesiment propenees under comsmecion are msdured bosed oo esumates prepared by indepemdent real esmu
valustbon experts, except where such values canrot be reilably determined. The slgnificant methods and asgumpilons
used by valoess i eslimating the foir value of invesiment properies are set out in MNole 2

Leages - Evitneiiug the imcremental borrowing rafe

The Compary canmol readily decermine the interest mte implicit in the lease, therefoee, it uses its Evcremental
burrowing rate (IHR} w0 measure bease labilnles, The 1BR [5 the mie of inlerest that the Comopany weald have o pay
to boerow pwer g similer lerm, and with a simelar sscorite, the funds necessary 10 obiain an asset of 2 ssmilar value fo
the right--use asset inoa similas economis enviroament. The IBR therslors reflects what the Company ‘weuld hove
b pay ', which reguines estimation wien no observable rates @ne gvailable or when they need (o be adjasted 10 eflect
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company eatitsgles the TRR g observable inpuits when avitoble ond i
required (o make cerinin entity-specific sstimaes
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At aind for the vear ended 3| December 2000

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION ANDSIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (cuntinued)
1.5 SICNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (comtinmed)

Estimates pod assumptions {continued)

Fair wrllae inewsarremiens

Managemern oies valoabon tecmiques to desermine te falr valoe of Mmencie] Bsruments (wlere ooive mrket
quntes are not available). This involves developing cstimates and sssumptions consistent with iow market panicipants
wiould price the instrumess, Management buses 3 sssumptions on obscrvablc dain es fir as possible but this i not
ahways avaiizhée. In that case, mEnagemesl uses the best infommanion svalible. Esfmaed fhlr valees may vary from
e aciaal |'|1_'I|:|:5 that would be achieved in anann's lemgth anssction al the roporting daa,

3 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The Parcet Company holds 65% exquity interest m The Spet Real Eamte Company (“Bped™), an asosiate previcusly
scepunted for peder the equity method since the Parent Cormpany wi prechuiled from exercliing contil over he
myestee due to contrastoal rights held by the cther investons im the mvestee, On 9 Fapuary 3019 Macquisition date™),
thie: Girenip oddaised conteol over Spot because the contractsal and decisian-making rights beld by the other Investors,
thet previounily prevered the Parent Company from controlfing the mmvedted, hizve elapied, The Farent Commgany
gecominbed fior the husiness cembinatios using the acqubition me=thod ot the acquisition date,

The if walues of the idemifiabls asses and Fabilities of Spofas at the scquisiiion dafe were

Firir walne reécogalied
oM acyrisiiion
F

AERaLE

Cash and bamk balancss 30,581

Investman deposits 13,2340

Investmen propery 5,119,550

Ol agsgls 7?36.,&[5

Todal aseis LAXE 561

Liahikities

Cieher labilites (493.520)

Fagminy 4,080, 442

Mor-comirallng morest ineasured at Fir vafue (1,046, 305

Mt @ssets seqairad 3,243,137

Represenied by

Foir value of préviously beld istersst 1243, 137

Cpmssderation frandlEred s

343,37

Amralmis af cask Sowes an acmdiiiion

Cash uuquu-nd an acygaisilion AT )

Consideraton paid -

Net cash inflow on sequisition - sl
Hed this business combination taken plece at the beginning of the yveas, met profil R the vear would not be signilkzantly
differ=ni.

4 GAlNONSALE OF INVESTMENT PROFERTY
Jufe M
Ki? i
Ealy ol read extate propeny . 4159
{insy of real esiate propeny sold - (214, 812)

- |2%,377
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at ond for the vear ended 31 December 2019

5 MET INVESTMENT INCOME FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS
20rE 28
K} K
Dhividend imoome fi EHl -
Income from imvesiment deposis snd others 152,900 34,058
158, 968 54,055
fi IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND OJTHERE FROVISI{NS
2o 208
KD Kil
Impairment losses on myesiment m essocines (Mo [0} 15,844

Allowance for expected credit bosses on trade receivnbbes (Move 12) 17,334 24,330
Prodabon for begal chains - Q9,285

17,354 1,010,353

7 REVERSAL OF PROVISIONS RO LONGER REQUIRED

Duiging tloe yoar, reversal of provizlans bo longsr requised mainly represtents reversel of lax claim provision of
KD | 274, 56% and other unutilized provisions ro longer regaired of KD 211,887,

Tiex clufoy provition

Oin 2 Februsry 2016, the Groap received o demand notice far SAR 25, 105040 from ibe Gereral Aatharity of Zakal
amid Tax {"GAZT") = foomerty kian as the Departmerd of Zatat nnd Income Tax (“DEIT), i the Kinpdam of Saudi
Arabia (“KSA') clriming capitl goins tax ond delay penalties (“ax claim") for @ sole rensaction of o property parthy
ownid by the Group. Accordicgly, tbe managermnenl of e Group appainted o tax sdviser in KSA 10 peview the tax
Slaien arwd filed pn ahpection appeal with GAZT,

Based on the advice received from ibe mx sdvizar, the managemert of the Parent Campany estimoed ond recorded =
pretengial 1ax liahility, incleding the afivementioned 1hx clalm pinounting @ KD 2058614 in the conuslidased
ataberment of finameiol pesitlon o of the fnoneial year gncled 31 Decensher 2008, representing the full amogst of s
limbility claimed by GATT.

During the: current period, ihe Group received an offer frem GAZT o setthe the tax claim [the “semlement offer'') for
aan st of SAR 8450000 (equivalent o KT 684 046). The beard of direciors of the Parent Company in their
meeting dated 9 May 2019 resolved based an the recommendation of the tax sdvisor, 1o accept the seftlement efler
fiar the best Imterest of the Group. Accordingly, oo 27 Juee 2019 the Growg has semled the Tall amousd of the lax elalm
a5 per the seftlement offer. Accordingly, the Group reverssd the eacess iy provision of SAR 16,655,040 {equivalent
o KOk 1,374, 5690 relaled to the i claim in tee statement urp'mﬁl or loss during the year endsd 31 December 2019,

L EARNINGS PER SHARE [EFS)

Basic EPS amounls ore calculaed by dividing the profitloss for the year oitributable to crdinery squity holders af the
Parent Croenmpany by the weighted average mamber of ardinary shores autstanding dering the year, Dilmed EPS is
cabculated by dividing the profitlass anribuczhle o erdinary equity holders of the Parest Compamy by the weighted
average namber of pedinary shives eutstanding during the year phas the weighted averags number of ordinary shares
that wenihd be issaed o cosversion of all the dilmive patestksl ardinary shares o ardinary danes. As there gne no
dibative instruments outstisiding, bisic s diubed carming por shase are dentacal,

2649 Mg
Prusfif {lpss) for the year aifribeinhle to equity bodders of the Parent Compary
AN ISR, 586 {4,195,777)
Weaphted aversge number of shaves aatstanding during the year {excluding
tresasary shares) FTH07R92] 179376 B0

Banic mnd diluted EPE {flz) 26 [22.31)
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g INVESTMENT FROPERTIES

2w 208
Kb Ko
Al | Janmry LER SR PO A0 250
Capital expenditune 8,550 -
Arising or business combinatien (Mo 3) 5,019,550
THiposzls - (214511}
Exchanpe differences &9 12T .
Chasges in fair vahe ! {0,534, 83T) 3.7 155}
Al 31 December 19,935,504 15,673,084
The Genoup's myestmens praperties awe located in the folkowing geouropyical locations:

g Fi
¥ it 9,750,004 9 7540, 0
Other MENA countries 10,185,564 5,923,004

19,938 554 15,673,054

Irrwesmnant ]m'irui'l:l-l:: ansoupting fo KD Q356,000 (2018: KD 4.T50000% are plafaed as security to fulfill collmer]

requirements of certain bank bomowings. (Howe IT).

it The valustion of the investment propeties of KO 18106, 5868 (200 8: KTY 12,536,43%), comprising of residentinl
properies, were performed by rwo indspendent valsers with recogaised md relevant professionn] qualifcaticn
and recemt experience of the lecabion and cabegory of investmenl properiies being valuoed, Fair waloe of the
ifalmenl propertics s arived @1 by wsing the market comporisen gppeoach. Uoder i marker comparison
approach, Taie volee 5 estimmed based on comparabls rensactices. The unit of comparizon applied by the Group
is the price per squene mewer ['sqm’y Bosed on these valosthians, the fir valine of investmens properties witnessed
o decrease of KD 27 380 compared 1o i3 carrying valess & 8t 31 December 2019 (2018 decreass of KD
L 58S 24,

Invessment properiies molode an amount of KOO 1,529,198 (1018 KO 3338655) epretentag the cost of
construction ofone lowl kesed in e Kilngdom of Saedi Arsbia which b lessed inthe ordinery sourseof business,

Drime the year, this propery wmsg revalusd by ope independend waluer resulting in revalistion o of
Bl E,S07T A5 (3008: KD, 730,02 1) The fadr vaboe i3 determuned based on & discauned cach Sow methed, using
contracrually Mxed cash fiows for 1.6 yeors and disoount mie of 12.33%. This propemy is chassifled in level 5 of
Fiib winloe Hn':-m:h}.

Thu amnificant anobservehle mpats uied in tha fair valie fessursisent catggorisad within leve! 3 of the felr valog
hierarchy, togethes with the quantitstive seasitiviny amalysis at 31 December 201% and 201 8 wre disclpsed in Motz 27,2

n INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Dactafls ol e Croup's assockine irg ey follows:

2w ¥

K} o]
Hajar Tower Real Extsie Company — K50, (Closed)—{Hajar") ® 3T 2,073,262
Hawabe! Holding Company K.5.C. (Clossd ) — (" Rawahel™) ENRLS T8 316,22
The Spot B=al Extoe Company (* Spat') *¥ = F243.3017

016,239 B0 B0

* The CGroup's equily (nverest in Higor (5 |eas than 20% of the voting rights; boweeer, the Geoup has desermined that
it s sipnificam infuence over this entiy becanse it has mesming el represenfation on the baard of (he investee.

=4 [hring the year, the Crompobtained conirel aver Saet because the conlreciual and decisson-making righty heid by the
othoer fervestors, Uil provious]y prevested the Parest Company from costroiling the investes, have elagsed (Mo 3)

The nhove associates are privade endities that are not listed on any stock exchange: therefore, no queded markel prices
are wvadlable o irs sbmnes
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asarand for the vear ended 1] December 2019

i INVESTMENT IN ASSCHTIATES jcenlimacd])

Shares of investmont in assaciale with s carcying value of KD Nil {201 8: XD 2.055,338) are pledged as 5 secusidy o
Fulfill coliateral requirements of bank bormowings [Mode 17).

The nssociaies Bad no comtingsnt lebilltles or cepinad commbiments as g1 3 1 Decembir 2008 o 2019,

Tenpairmients of aisociines
During the currest year, the Ciroap has not necorded any impairmens hosses oo investmend in associates (2018
KD 16,840}

The manzgement has caried aut the msessment of Group®s invsbmesl in associales fo idemtily any indicators of
impairment. The management has comeidered factors such as chamges in the nvestee’s Finorcinl condifion, amy
significant sdwerse changes in econoeny, markel, legal envirenment, industey or the politicnl epvironment aff=cting
the investeas business, However, the magagement concluded dhers ore no isdicators for impainmen
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidianies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the vear ended 31 December 2014

I FINAMCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

JRry 208
KI¥ Ei¥
Fingniol anvels of fiie valwe dhetript otfer comprelnrier incame
Lol unquaied squity imvestimants 0,533 FI2.24%
Forelgn whpsated sgaity myvesimenis 07 S 133436

1,168,172 1,155,683

Thiz haerarcly for determining aod duchozing the fair vahues of financial mvastistmts by valuntios achnkqoes
is presemied in Mote 27.1.

12 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ANDOTHER ASSETS

Jur8 L
Ni) K}
Fingucial assicis
Trade peceivitie LTI LR ] b1 e L |
Oiher racaivables * 453,578 I E08 (a8
150472 20350
Man-financial assers
Frepayments 281,411 23621

2,15 B 282397

T nel carrying value of lads reosivatdes i considered ieasonablie spprosimation of fair valus,

Mote 352 inciisdes dischosures velating 1o the credit risk expasures and analyiis relaing b tve allwascs f
expecaed cradil lomes on the Groap's trade receivables, Ceher classes withn sccoumts receivable do noi

Set ol below ks the movement for expecied ereeli losses of ireidc receivables:

2009 4044

K XD
Opening provisiod for impadmend of tiade recelvables 695,785 674,555
Al owarsos I'H.'l:IBI'.IiSEIﬂ 5] p-rufil! ar |osd dunng the year 17334 24230
A3 December Tlﬁ-.ll!  E38.TARS

The madmum cxposura o crodi fisk egposure to credit risk ot the reporting dete iy the cerrying vadue of cack
cluss of recervahles mentinned ahive,

* Dither receivables lnclude an ameunt of KD 8590355 (2008: KO § 5357 0040) placed by the Group with o third
jporty related to the ;:u.l:'n:lu.nc of o property. Cm 28 Februmry 200132, the Growp emtered ity an ogresment with
ihe comizrparey 1o receive Nixed rental income of KD 2 160000 over & peried of 42 months and the peincipel
would be repaid at matursty on 31 Augsst 2013, The serms of the sgreement provided the thind partty with &a
option (o repurchiass the property by rakng early repaymenss af ARy poire of fime during the tenure of the
egreemenl. On | Sepdember 2005, the third party repurchased the property and thereby extended the t2rnor of
The reperyment {i.e. KD z,nsm:lrm: vt T8 AEKE PD YRIrd

O 29 Movember 2018, the Group rengwed the repurchase agretment ond extended the tenor of the rersalning
repayment amount of KT 1 S8R0 puvuble i monibly insalments of 0D 30,000 oser the remaining period
af 30 mosths wanh a Onal malseiy on Jely 202 1. Accordingly, (he Group elassife! an amoant of KD S40.378
(200 B KT ML 000 a5 current and KD 34098 (2008: KL 787, 0007 a5 non-current,

14 INVESTMENT INEPOSITS
Thise represenl deposiis placed with local amd Forelgn banks haveng oviginal matetn perlod of miore thin

ihiree: mearthe, Depogits with local banks carmy an avernge rate of redum of 2873% (2018: L5 %) per annum
and dzpu:lai:a. with fore igrl hamis cirry o avera e rsle of nelurm of 122753 (2018; 12,75 %) per anmam,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 20019

14 SHARE CAPITAL AN SHAKE PHREMILM

fiml Khvare daarkal

Narmber of shares Autfecarived frrwed g oty pai
gt i 0o 3073
K (]
Shares of 100 fils vach (pid n cask) 179420890 | 79429 8%) 17542989 17542583

(8 Shara prasisim
The share premitam is nod awvailahle for distribation

The sharchivklers of the Pareit company a1 the A0GM weld om | By 2009 resobied 10 extinguish secamalmted
losses of KD 4,095 2% chrough paniaky offseitisg shars premium,

15 RESERVES
= | Stainlery reserve

In aceordemes with the Companies” Lawe, and the Paremt Company's Memorandum of Incerporation sl Arcles
of Aszocintion, a minimane af 1M of the prodit attributable to the squity halders of the Parent Company far the
year, balare coniribution to KFAS, NLST, £akal and directors’ remuneration shall be mesafemed 1o the stsutory
reserve; The anmual general assembly of the Parent Compaey may resabe to discostinue such tramsfer when the
roserve axoeeds S0 of The imued shar capital,

Thie reserve muay only be used to offsel bosges o enable the payment of & dlvidend up g 3% of pakl-up share
capital in years when profit is not sufficient for the payment of such dividend duee to absence of distrbutable
reservos. Aoy smmmis dedocod from the meserve shnll be nefinded when the profits in the fodlewing ycors
sulfice, unbess siuch reserve soceeds 0% of the sl share capleal,

152 VYoluntory reserve

b accordance with Comparics’ Luw, sed the Poront Company's Memommdom of Ineorpoeation and Anticles ol
Azsociation, as amended, o maximom of (0% of the profir for the year atributable to the sharehiobders of the
Parent Company before contribmsiion in KFAS, Zakat amd Beard ol Directors' remunermion should be
trarcferred 1o the valuntsry reserve teljest o Board of Directers’ approval.

1 TREASURY SHARES

209 v}
Number of treasary shares S5 404 53,000
Percensoge of reasury shares (W) 0.54% 003
Cont of reasury shames (KD} T 044 1 3008
Market value af treasury shares (KD} T, e 4452
Weighted mvernge markel walue pes trensary shie {fils) T Ad

Reserves stuivalent b the cost of the trensery shires Feld gm0l avolleble fo distribigion during the kalding
period of s sheres s per ChA paidelines.

17 TAWARRUGQ AND MURABAHA FACILITIES

iR JR0E
b En
Tewarnag and Murahaha facilities 273,452 2928935
Less: deferred fimnee cogs {517 R3) {51 136)
AZ13EIR I ET6500
Current 602,576 1 ARE T3}
Teom-curreni 2611, 042 1,376 k66
A213,608 2 R7E 500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A atamd for the year ended 31 December 2009
17 TAWARREID AMD MURABAHA FACILITIES jeontinued)

Tavarmag 2md Muratala facibiles apuireenling: o E0D 3313678 (0018 KD 2 876,500 st secunsd r‘|_'.'iuirr*il
innvestmeent prroperties (Mote 90,

Taveamny and Morahahs faclllties e all denominared in K1 and cormy fm stfective poofi rate {n the minge of
500 % b0 6.20% (2018 L5 % 1o 626,

18 ACDOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

S0y A0

K Kl
Accounls payebls gv.738 T34R8
Accrued expenses 1, B50.965 1415629
Thividends paysble 134,374 151,184
Unearmed ravenus 1,5H, 0 0 1,6 025

AATI2TH 5.342.326

1% LEASES

Croup a3 4 lessee

The Group has lease coniradts for various ifems of propeny used in i cosmlions, The Growp's obligations
ander (s lesses ard secumed by (he lessor’s e 1o the lemed assets. Generally, the Grosp i resriceed from
asiiuoarg amd seblmsing the lsassd asects,

The Group alsa has certnin lenses of property with lense terms of 12 months ar less. The Groop applies the
“shost-term |amse’ ret-npi:inn ExCT AT for these lessos.

Set part helow drs the L'.nn'_l.'in; mmoumes of righi=-nfame assels recognised and the mavvement s dearing he perind:

Buldisng
K

g ol 31 December 2018 -
Effect ol adopting [FRS 16 {Wote 2.2} G50, 58
AL | Jssuary 2019 (eestated) 030,551
Additionel beases recopnised a
Right-of-use awets a5 al 3T December 2019 573,420

—_——
St wat balow one the carmving assovmts of lesse Rabilitsen and the movemeiita during te podod

Kn

As @l 31 December 201 B -
Effect of adopting IFRS |6 LE] Y]
AR T Jeninry 2009 {pestated) S06R3
Flnarcs cost on [2ass Habiliies -
Pryimsirtis [5T3,737F
Lease imbilities a5 at 31 December 20009 A56,F50
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As at and for the year ended 11 December 2019

LY LEASES (epntinuesd})

are

&Ly
Cunreme 344 400
Mon-current 12,556

56,056

The westohsed mvernge ineremesmad bormowing rate applied m lense Jinbdlies recopnized mothe stanemens of
firsmcinl pasation s 6%

The maturity anabysis of lease Habdlibes b disclosead fn Mo 253,

The fullowieg are the amouans fecognited in profil or loss

IHY - Leases ander IFRS 16 Jore
K
Diepreckaion expense of right-of-nse assols 357,203
Exponse relaling w shar-torm lsaxes (inclisded in sdministrative expemses ) 36,126
Totnl nrnount recognised in profis or loss 413321
I8 - Dperoting keases under LAS 17 2018
Ky
Rend sapenss (icleded in raal csials copenses) IS0 420
Tocal amount recognised n profit or loss IS8 420

8 MATERIAL FARTLY-0OWNED SUESIDIARY

I'h:{_"nr:-l.lp has comcheded that The Spat Keal Estae I'_mpmyt ‘Bpat” ) s the ooly subsadiary with pon-controlling
imtarests thad are msderial o the {.:mup Fimancial infarmation of Spot is provided below;

Propaortion of equity interest held by non-controlling ierest:

Cioramiryt f Fcorpanation aw

Marere af cormpany BT L S0
Epm S S5,
Accamulated bofances of Profir afociries v
el bl
e ip-cuarreiing fnderesd ir-coiriruiliag interesl

2o J0T8 2009 JOEE

KLk kD &D KL
Spal | B54.276 . 512
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s at ond for the year ended 3] December 2009

T MATERIAL FARTLY-(MYNED SUBSIDLARY {continuel)

The summarised finmncind information. of this wheidery, bsed oo omounts before  inter-company
eliminatbons, is provided below,

Fumemirrized shrfemend of comprelwmiivg fucome far My peor grded 81 Decesber 2019

Kn
Kevenue 40371
Prealis for the year 1,49
Oither comprehemsave momme -
Teeal camprehansve incomes 149
- — I
Aftribwmable to ron-contralling inlenes 511
Kummorived stwiemend ol fnemclol poxition o of 31 Decewcber 2070
KD
Cirmest aegein 403, 805
Mif-cisrrefil Agsele 5 ?-W 410
Totul assets n,l &3 5
Cerrend linbibities 0,209
Mennecrrent liabilitdes
Tuital linkilicies 501,249
Totml egpuity 5,592,260
A riribitmbde o
Equity halders of the Farene Company 3,737,484
MNan—contolling misresis 18542 Th
Summrrised shotememt of cosl (Tpws for the pear emded 35 Decenber 2000
KD
Ciperating aaivities TLAG
Trvesting wethyviles {46,550
Finaneing sctivitics -
Mt inercase oocadh and essh equivalents 24 A8S

11 RELATED PARTY INSCLOSURES

Helaged parves repeeser assoclalies, mejor shirehokler, dircerans and key management personng| of the Grogp,
el conpan s " wliich thighy are pu‘i-‘u:ipnl o ners or over whikch chey are ahle e exercise sig.nil'u:nni' influerce
or joing comrel. Pricing pobicies and terms of these trensactions ome approved by the FParomt Company's
managEmenl

e firlkwing ealle shaves the agenegase snlue off ronsact ioes ond outsmnding balonces whh reled panies:

S il
Consolidsred statement of fimsncial position: KD XD
Al dive fromr sefaled pariie
Asnoc lmes 1333%1 IET0II
Aty dywe r-;Im'n-.'Ebl',l:.wflu
ASTICIAES 262530 2ERIT
Orbheet reloned peiies 100 E 1D
170430 216037

67



mrm g —

:f# Leidia

Mashasr Holding Company K.S8.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 11 December 2019

11 RELATED PARTY IMSCLOSURES {continsed

Transactions with key management personnel

Key mumpgemenl persinee| comprize of ibe Bosed of Diirectorss and key members of managemem hayisg
muthpady and respenshility for planning, directing and controllimg the activitics of the Group. The sgeregete
wnlue of tramsactions relafed 0 key managesment persomne] were a8 foflloaes:

2079 e
KDy Kn
Ky managemenl compeasalion:
Salaries anid ahiet lenm benedis 150,859 1H3.193
Employes” eod of service bosefis 1,818 52.4%0
180,677 215,683

Terms and vanditiens of trasssctions with redated parties

Trenssetions wits relased parties ars made on fenms approved by the Growp's menagement. Dutstanding halsnces
ae e venr-end are wissiieed, meres bee and repayable on demacd. There have been no guaraniess provided ar
recaived lov sy relsbed party receivables or payables, For the year erded 3 | Docember 2019, the Cironp bas not
recoeched sy alle ¢ fiof capeched onalil ioses relating to smeunts coved by relsied perties (2008: BEY i) This
assedsment i underiaben each fEnancial vesr (theough sxamining the fnancial position of the related party ond the
markel in which the relaled party aperats,

11 METRIRUTIONS MADE AND PROPOSED

Fi L yrIL
Ko Kl
Proposed dividends oa ordisary shanes:
Proposed cosh dividend for 2009: 5 fils per share {2018: Mil fils per share) £02. 333
e — e — ——

Proposed dividends oo onfnary sheres sre sabject oo approwal & the areusl genenal ssssmbly mesting and are nat
recapnised a4 a Fabiline 32 a1 7] December.

13 SEGMENT IWFORNMATION

The Growp's primary basis for segmental repartmg i by butiness ssgments which & sobject tn risks and rewardy
that ars different from those of ather segments. The usiess stgments comprises of:

#  Real esture acdiliies — lovestinemsls in nsal csgale properlics sither by way ol punchae, sale, development
and renting of residential and commercial properties (including lamd and lad develepment) tn varioes
geograpaical lecaroms

w My and Uerah serwcer = Trokeling, trove! end legistic services rofoiing ro Hal and Umesh.

& ‘mwentiees activiifer - Ecmbiiching compamies f Kewair amd afooard) Temdfep i andstalfardes amd auwaciaes
aod invisling excoss cesh Mows in imvestments manaped by specialived fArancial insdiutines.

The Board of Directars monitars the operving resuls of cach business s=gmena seperunely fp the purpose of
making desisans phout resoures dlleestion amd pefonmance assessmers. Sepment perforrense i3 evilere] s
an profit or boss and B3 meesired cossfsiently with peoell o loss in the coraolidited fnancial statements,
Acourdingly, duilng the vedr the managemenl has changed the segmentsl mformetion based on their basiness
segmenty as fisllsas:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Acs at and for tee year ended 31 December 20019

23 SECGMENT INFORMATION (eontinued}

My &
Rl entore Lliwseealy R versarmpis
TV e EErvieel [ 1] Tiekad
KD K KD K

JIst December 2019

Sepmmnt mgets 25,701 695 TA2Y 1.-@5!.::1 JAITT 446
Sczinenl [ubilinies Liﬂila -lM'H 1,136,059 THI3 6T
AT Decennbor 2005

Sezment asscis 12 857,712 13331 I 24 304 M2 45K
Seamenl lishilines 4.295221 47 g4 . 4,339 561 B677.T16

Dering 2016, the sharcholders of Hajj & Umrah Services Consontinm — Mashaer K50, (Clesed), a subaldlory, have
decided 1o tenaporarity suspend the business operations, uniil funther potice due o wnfavourabde narker conditions,

4 CHAMNGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITES

! femwary I Mrecember
e Cirsi fTawy (Arkeers FLE
e e KTy &
Tawarnag and murabaka payables 2 876,599 38277 178,742 211618
Lease |iabilies P30,683 (373, 72T} . AS5p.450

3 R0T IR (415 450y 174,242 A5TE ST

15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBIECTIVES AND FOLICIES

Risk is inherent in (he Group's sctivities hot i is managed through a process of capeing idemtification, messuremeni
and momBoring, subject to risk fimils and other controls, This process of risk monagement is erifical to the Growp®s
achicwing profitakdlity amd sach individiinl wighin the Cirougp B acooantable for the risk exposures relating to iz o Ber
respansibilitizs, The Group i5 exposed e credit sk, Bquidimy risk and markest rigk, the latier Deing subdivided Tese
Interes rare nisk, foreign curmency risk end equiry price risk. 1715 albwo suliect 10 operaning fisks. The Tndepemlest risk
cembrod process dosd ol tnclude busness asks tuch as charges in the environmaent, techoolagy snd indusiry. Thay are
monilered thraagh the {irowp’s sirategic plinnmg prooes.

The Cmup's risk managemen| foowses on actively secaring the Groug™s sart o medium term cash ows by minlsizing
ihe podentink adverse effecis an the (rowp's fsancial perfonmance amd anafvse exposurss by dezres and magnituce of
sk, Long tarm fmancinl invessmens sre managsd o genamie bating relwias.

The Ciraugp does notl emer info or trade financiel [msruments, ineluding derivezive finascinl irstrumeiss, far speculative
pLifpaAE,
The most sigmificant fisancial risks 1o which the Groep & exposed 1o ame described below

151 Markal rich

Market risk I8 the sk (has tve valoe of an esset will flscuaee as a resuln of changes ia marker vardables such 22 Foralgn
exchanze rales, mberes! rates, aid equity prices, wivsther thede cluciges are caused by Baciors specific to the individes|
investment or its msuer o facsees sffecdnp all fvesmmenes raded n the markel

‘arkes risk 15 managed an the bisis of pre-detsrminesl asser allocoiions soross varinas nssor eaegnries, diversificatinn
of assets in terms of geogrphical distribution and indusiry coneentration, & continoeos appeaizal of mirka conditions
ar] tremds and management’s estimate of long and short terrn changes in fal volue
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Mashaer Holding Company K.5.C.P. and its Subsidiaries
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15 FINANCIAL IRSTEUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT ORIECTIVES AND POLICIES (confinned)
L | Market rich {cantineed)

w] Profit rate pisk
Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair vales of future cash Mows of a financial instruments will fluctuate becans of
chunges |n nearket profis raie,

L)} Eigulty price risk

The Group's exposure 1o equity securities price visk arises from investments helel by the Gromp and chesified as af Eir
walie rhrouph other comprebensive ingome (FVOCL) (MNose 1) The Groop's non-listed souity ineestmens are
spcpiible o ek poss risk armslag from wnsstaintis dbout Pelans saliss of the invssiment secarities, The Giroup
mnnnges the equity price risk thnough diversification and by placing lmits on ndivichiol and botal squity mabmimens,
Reparis on the equity portfiolio aee sobeaitted to the Ciroep™s sénior menagemnent an 8 reguler basit. The Group's semar
MANAEEmENE reviews and ApproVes afl mnjar equity mwvestment e s,

AL the reponting dute, the exposure to unduoled equity investmens o fair vakie was KD 1008172 (2003 KDy
1,155,685 ) Senaitivaty mnalyses of hese mveatmenss hove been provided in Mote 27,1,

2l Foreign curremey risk

Forelgn eurrency risk |5 the rigk (had (b walue of 0 Goancial istrumemm will Thictaste due b chenges in foreign exchenge
rates. Foeelkon exchange risk (= mannped on the basls of nits detenmined by management and o continpoas nssesament
of The Group’s open poisong, cermenl amd expecnd caclangs rae movemsms,

The thle helaw indicates the Groap's foreign cimency exposire o 11 December, 14 @ resilt of ils morstary aisets aned

(linbilities),
TR AN
En K
Saudi Rival (SAR) X570 5513458
Egypuian Poends (EGF) 7RI (2.004,407)
3,590 554 2,600,048

The nealysis calculwies the effect of o reagoninbiy possihle movemest of the K0 cerrengy pats againgt the Sandi Riyal
[SaRFand Egyoting Poand (EGF), with nil arher variahiles bebd constamt, onoibe consalidared stmement of profit or sy
[ 1o thie Feir wnlie of currency senetive aeants and liahildie),

Chrange in Nt gffect ow
CHFTENCY Fafe L e
=) Jo08 J0i8
il &L
Currency
SAR % a1 512 |6R.%13
EGE % LER. 55,541

252  Credit risk

Credit Tisk s ihe ik thas cng coumer-pay 1o o financial insmyment will foll wo discharge an phligaiion and cowse the
i o dnciul o finemcial lesz The Cronp’s credar policy and expnsne 1o oncdit risk i maniicred on ss cegoeng basis
The Group seeks 10 avesd mndoe corcentrations of nsss with mdividuals or Groups af custamers m o specific lneations or
husiness ibrouph diversification of its pethvitles, 1t also obuins securliy when mprogrise

The Group is exposed wo onedin sk on s bank balances ard investnent deposios, ampants doe from redated parbcs and
trids gnd alher neselvaliles.
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15 FINAMUCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT ORIECTIVES AND POLICIES {continued)
br L de Credie risk (enniimoed)
Sfevimnim exposae fo crelt ok

The Croup's exposure to credit nisk is Imited to {he carmying amounss of financial assets racognised at the reporiing
e, @ summarissd brlow;

2RI N &

Ky Lo
Accomnis recchvable nnd oiher Rsseis 1,504,472 4, 4K, 550
Ammmis die from neleted partics 13,3532 I3TO02
Inwenimend deposin 2511 475 B0 000
Brank bakances 1,030,268 -ﬂﬂﬁ,ﬂﬁ
3318 A, 748251

The maxmum credii exposure v 4 single counlér parly a5 of 31 December was KDv | 00,000 (2018:
KD 15870000, which i secured by uh lnvestment property reglstered Inthe e o the Group amd can be enlbs) apon
if the counterparty s in default wnder the terma of the agreement.

Informarion an other signifizint concenirations of credin risk is &5 follows:

Blowrixrle Trtermationm Toraf
KD Ky i
AL December 2019
AgconEts peosivable hnd oles Ao W5 b SERR B 1, 564472
Ameounts due Fom relmcd patics 1325 - 13332
Investmen] deposing R ETRIL AbL ATS 1,511,875
Bank balsoors YR HET 11,432 13026
3,547,225 1,372,713 ERTELTT
At 3] Decanoer 20018
ACCOUNE peceivatile and olwer asseas 14019267 REARELE 3,000,550
Aumount Sue fom releied pacics A%,000 ELLLREE S J3r0iz
Investmient dupoaiis S (1 204, O3k 0, D
Bank hatences kg B 1.0m S0 280

2,624.081 1,124, 16% 3,748,251

Hank Salawces wed fnvesmrenl deposds

Credit risk from balagced with banks and financial imstiucions 65 (mted becawse the couerpariies are repoiable
financal instutions  with approprate credit-ratings -msigned - by Ererrstional credit-rating agencies. Fusther, e
principal amauncs 0f depogics in local banks are pusranieed by the Central Bank of Kusai in accordonce wi#lk Law Ho
30 of 2004 Concemdng Guarsniee of Deposits ® Locel Banks in the Stk of Kuwait which cere Inte efecs o= 3
November S8

A e due from related parfien

With respectio amounts doe Fom related partiss, the Group has assessed i related panies o have low credil sk baseid
an its strong fiquidity position io meet its contractual cash flow chiigations in Fhe nesr term, Accord ngly, the Group
des ot expect to incur any sSgrificanl credit losses om amousds owed by s relabed partees,

Traade amid ather reverendies
The Group™s pelicy it o closely moniter the credivwarthiness of the coumlerpariies, |n relation to residal income
receivable, managemest atiesses the benarts secerding v Gifoun™s erllena praof bo aiering indo lease arvangermens

The Group wwes o provissan matns besed on the Graup®s historieal observed dofimll rabes to measure tha ECLS of irade
receivables from individoal cusiomers, which cormpriss-a very fanze number of small balances. The Group assames thal
the credit risk on a Fnancial asset has incewed significant Iy since iyl recogniiion when contrasiual payments ane mon:
than 90 divs past due, unless the oo has reasanable a0 sapporiable mformntion thy demonsirmes sherwise, Asal
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15 FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT OBIECTIVES AND POLICIES (contaued)
151 Crelit risk (comfinuel)

Asseganinenf off expechad credlr fosses fooniimmed)

the reparnng date, the majority of the Groap”s coantarperty exposure hasa Jow risk of defnwl and does nod mclude my
past-doe amsoumns.

253 Liguidity risk

Liquididy risk is defmed as the risk thai the Group will -encounier ditficuliy in meclisy obligations associaed
with Fnascial liahilities that sre setiled by delivering cash or anpther fenancial asser.

Lequidiay risk ix managed by cig senlor massgement of the Parem Compary, Too linsit this risk, momganear has
s ped divermalicd finding soueds, manages assets with (kpaidity in mind, ard menitoes Hgodding ama segalor basis,

The tuble belw sommarses die moturty profile al the Groep's Gnascial labilites beted on omniniciul smcoaied

patFmenls;

Epae [ I=T T Cheer

il ey sraenby | pear Towurd

A & Ky Kir Ky

Az of 3T Dhecvmber 2019
Accounes pavable ond otier liabilities - 16, 200 1,972 R6R - 2073007y
Amounts due o rehied partics 8245 0,540 131,536 . 270,451
Twwnnmag and memrwbsha Acilitics o128l 125 S S8) 81K 1, 5an0.4M1 A1 N0 AR
|.case liakiliies . L E ] 13,556 SE6,056
Tt uncliscounted lEabilities Ti,228 TAL.TH S, 12055 S 0sfil 657 G A 31,5
At ar 3] Decenshar 2008
Axxeunts peyabie and atfer lalailities 25897 407 652 25 ATR - 354,30
Aumnonmts due o reteted partie BO70 1, [y eS0T . e | ]
Tovwenmng und vrwareal GRoilies 19,09 Ik 1932 1.4TE692 1398, 955 2028935
Total undiscounted abilites LRENET S36 344 4 380337 1,398,953 6,804, | T3

The Croup ckpecis et nol all of e contingent Babiites o commiznemis will be drawn before cxpary of dhe
otnnenilioerils,
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6 CAFITAL MANAGEMENT
The primary shiective of the Sirsap’s capital management is to maximize sharehalder valoe.

The {Groop manages its capital sricture and makes adjustmients in light of changes in.economic conditiors and the
requiremenes of the finaecial covenants, To maibtain or adjust the capital Aruchare, the Group may adis the dividend
payincal b sharchaldors, reourn caploal 1o sharehalders or Baue new shares.

The Ciroup monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ragia, and & caleulatad e m=t deht by totel capital plus net debt.
The droup includes within net debe, Tawarmog and Mumbaha pavables less balasces with bamks and shan-term
depasis, Copital represents squity sliribalable b5 the egiity bobders of 1Be Parenl Campany.

L0018 SO0 8
AD K0

Tewarrug and huratzaha payahles LSRN 2876 598
Less Cagh and bank balances (1,130, 269) {906, EEY)
Leas; Invesiment deposiis (LSI0,ETE) CEORL D0
Mot (asseis) dehi {418,526 1465718
'I'nhl:upiml 25543, 774 e B el e
Caplial and met debt 25115248 T3 100 4217
Genring ratio { 1.70% ) T21%

Mo chamge ware msly in i objectives, policks & processes for managing capital daring rhe vears ended
31 Decomber 2019 nnd 2013,

7 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value higrarchy

All aseede mnd [labilities for which i vale: 15 messired o0 disclesed in e consolidaled Guanckal sistemenis are
categorrsed wilkdm the [air wabue hierarchy, desceibed as foliows, Based on tlee lowes: level imput il B signifrcant 1o
the far value meksunement a5 & whale:

b Level |- Quated (omadfusted) markes prices in sctive markets for identical d5sets ar Babilnses

¢ Leeel 2 = Valustion rechmigues [or which the lowes) leved input thal is ssgnaficant to the e value meaguremen is
directly or indirsciiy observable

r Level 5= Valusiboo wolmlgues fr wikcl the Jowess bevel bsput that {s stgmificani 6o the thir valee imrasurament is
un ks wlle

Assessing the significence of o pariicular inpar requires judeement, considenng factors specific oo @ie g3ses or Finhdliry.
171 Financial imstrumaints

The= fair valbuz afusgueted investeonis al fair walue through clbe comprehensive ircome at 3| December 2015 amounting
iy KD 0 B0, 172 (300 & KD 1 TR5.685) is enbeporisesd wilhin level } of the fair value hierarchy,

There were o transfiers betwesn any levels of the falr value hlerarchy during 2009 or 2(H &,

Yalaslion techuiques

T Camert imviEals 58 Suity of Companics [HaT LRe ROTquinmed iy an aoing marker, TrIBSAcIoms i s invesurents do st
acowr on & regular hasi, The Jeroap uses a market-bazed valuaiion tschnique for these positions. This appranch ul:lives
price maltipkes of relevant sectors. The discounsed muitiple s applied o the comesponding, relevont mencore of the
invesirg coampany 0 measare the fair value. The Group classifies the fair value af these investmerms as kel 3,

For all siher Gminerel msets arad linbililes, managemend assessed e the cevylng walue & o emonallc spproxinatan
al fir value,
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ry) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT {coatinaed)
b | Finamcinl instrumeats (conlimoed)
Regopcilintiom &f Level 3 fnir valnes

The fedlowing table shaws a recancilistion of all mavemends in the fir wniue of flems cetegorised wigthin Level 3
be=tween the heginming and the end of the seporting perind:

Finwscial
ATFEry ar
A1 Draremiber 2019 FFICT
i
Agal | Famieary 2019 1,155,685
Fomsasurenvent recogaised m OC] 42,704
Purchases  sabes (pet) {9,215}
As ai 31 December 2000 1,008,172
Finamciol
ArFely af
3! December 2005 FroCT
gﬂ‘
Asat | fammry 2018 -
IFES § transition adjusiment 1,490 £30
Remeasurement recopmissd m OC] (343,.735)
Ax ot 1] December 2018 1,155,685

Descrgition of sgmificant unobssrvable inputs o valuation of Meancial 2sseis:
The significan? smebservzble mpas used m the f@ir vake mesummen! cateponissd withim Level 3 of e bar value
hierarchy sogether with a guantitslive sensitivity analysis are as shown belaw:

Filwgtion Kignificaws smobsenrkle Kauge Sevainhaley of e
sechinigwe dmpriis fweightod averepel  dmpe fe fale valie
F oy
10% Imcrease / (decrease) in
the Secoor FBY  mulbipie
would resslt in an increasc /
Unquoted barket [decrease) in fair value by KD
SETUriEs apgrnach Sector PFRY mubliiple 01,84 = 090 {0, 74) (158431

1% imcrease / {detrease) inm
the DLOM would resalt in am
{deereasc} ¢ moreass = [nir

DLOM 304 witbue by KD 55 451

* [Megourd foe Inck of marketabeliy (PO reproscnts the st (hat the Group his determined that masket
lﬂﬂ-ﬁr.ﬂrlrli winiald take b decount when priciag the maestmenti
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 at and for the year ended 31 Decembsar 2009

F i) FAIR YALUE MEASUREMENT (continmed)

a2 Nop-Tinancial insirumeniz

The folluwing toldes provide the fair vehoe mersurement hierarchy of the Group®s non-financial syt
Flr vl mOasniremiainr WSt

Signifcant
Meoted prives v shrerwbis Shpmifewry

Aeiive amerkely fqum llub.mmﬂrh;m
{Level 1) (Level 2) fevel 31 Toial
L] Ny iy Kir

F
lvestment propenies - 18, 166 3806 1,829,198 19938854
JiA :
Iervostmenl propotics - 123736439 3,336,655 I 5,675 (1
¥aimadon techniques

Ivesment praperiies

The fair value of invesiment properies was assegsad by scendiied Independent roal esinie experis with recognbaed and
rebevaa professhonal qualificatian and with recent expericnce i the location and categony of ihe investment properties
being valued. The saluation modsls applied are consastent with the principles @ IFRS 13 *Fair Falue Measeremen”
and FEir value i3 determined using & mix of 8¢ income capiialisation method and the mantet comiparizm wpoath
comsilering the nature wad usage of eack propesty. File valee wsing che income caphalisation methed |5 estimated based
on the wrmalizal net opemtisg, mocoime penemtad by the progerty, which is divided by the capitalesation (discount)
rate. Linder the market conparisen apgmaach, fal valoe s cstimpted based on comparable transactioss. The it of
comparison appéied by the Group is the price per squsre meter ('sqen”), The fair valse of investment propery using the
I ﬂHij.'lH.f.ll'im meghind inchuded withdn Leved 3.

Description of significant unabservable inpuis b volsstion of son-finaseial assets:
The folowing table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amowst of level 3 of on- fmencal asssts which
are recorded at Gar valoe:

Af Rempasuhemein A
I fawinry gl wrener At Decpmber
KD K K
2F Decenrber 209
Inesstinent propemies BB ELY L] (0,507 AT 1 EE 00
3T December 2008
Investmeil propenies 1066616 {0, 730420) ERELT

The Felr veluse of the [Svesoment jprogerny under the Leved 3 Biemrchy was determined using dee insons approgch, The
fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow metvod, wsing contractually fixed cash fows for 16 yesrs and
dizcount rmie of | 2. )4%,

SigalNeant inervmes fdecreasts) o estunoted serdal vakse and ren? growth per aniim i isakafion woold resill ina
sian!ﬂ:.urrll_l.! higher {loer) fair value of the properlies "5|E'1|l'h|1r1l increnses {decreases) in discouni rebe [znd exit
yieldy in isolation wauld resolt moa significontly loveo (higher) fair vabue,
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o COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENLCIES

Capaiied ecumrifmens
The Geoup bes ins capitall compuiiments &t the peporting date (2018 Malj,

Lhperarivg lesse commitments — (roup ar 2 feised
Puture muinineum rendals pavable under operatng jeases 35 ai 31 Decennber be, 85 follows:

2048 L

LE K
Witlin one yoar . 400,526
A fher orie year, bt ol more thon five years - 144 400

= 44 26

Legal slaim comingency
The Group operates i the resl esisle mdustry and iz ssbiset to tegpl dsputes with temars I the normal covrse of
miskiess, Manigeniset Joss ool believe that such procesdings will have & malerta elfect oa i resals and Grancsl

irocEibon.
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